An Immature Step Backward for New Zealand's Youth Justice System?

A Discussion of the Age of Criminal Responsibility

Sarah Kuper

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the degree of the Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) at the University of Otago

October 2010

i

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people:

Geoff: For your patience and guidance

My Dunedin friends and flatmates: for all the good times

The Office Crew: for some light relief

&

Mum, Dad, and Jane: For all your love and support throughout my University days

CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|---|------|
| CHAPTER ONE: Background | 3 |
| 1.1 An introduction to the "age of criminal responsibility" | 3 |
| 1.2 Justice and Welfare Approaches | 5 |
| 1.3 New Zealand's Youth Justice Legislative Setting | 7 |
| CHAPTER TWO: The Amendments | 14 |
| 2.1 Changes for the serious child offender | 14 |
| 2.2 Youth Offenders in the Adult Court | 15 |
| 2.3 Guiding Principles | 17 |
| 2.4 General Re-organisation | 17 |
| 2.5 Contra-flow evident | 19 |
| 2.6 The Roots of the Amendments | 19 |
| 2.7 The Politicised Nature of Youth Justice | 20 |
| 2.8 A Principled Approach | 25 |
| CHAPTER THREE: An Evidential Approach | 28 |
| 3.1 The Serious Child Offender's Limited Culpability | 28 |
| 3.2 The appropriateness of the Youth Justice system for reducing re-offending | 34 |
| 3.3 International Human Rights Instruments | 40 |
| 3.4 Conclusion | 46 |
| CHAPTER FOUR: The Way Forward | 48 |
| 4. 1 A Further Extension of the Youth Court's Jurisdiction | 48 |
| 4.2 Transfer of Family Court's Care and Protection Orders to the Youth Court | 52 |
| 4.3 Bringing Scientific Evidence into Sentencing – A qualitatively different approa | ch56 |
| CONCLUSION | 61 |
| RIBLIOGRAPHY | 62 |

INTRODUCTION

[They] frequently know the difference between right and wrong and are competent to stand trial. Because of their impairments, however, by definition they have diminished capacities to understand and process mistakes and learn from experience, to engage in logical reasoning, to control impulses, and to understand the reactions of others.... Their deficiencies do not warrant an exemption from criminal sanctions, but they do diminish their personal culpability.

Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 318, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 2250 (2002)

In this paper I will consider the age of criminal responsibility in New Zealand's youth justice system focusing primarily on the 'serious youth offender'. Recent amendments to New Zealand's youth justice legislation – the Children Young Persons and their Families Act 1989, the prevalence of serious youth crime in New Zealand and the politicised nature of the debate surrounding it makes this a pressing issue. Children who commit serious offences pose a peculiar challenge to every criminal justice system. Children may commit "adult" crimes but their immaturity and lack of understanding mean that they cannot be dealt with as "small adults".

This raises problems for the criminal law. Questions arise as to whether a child offender in these circumstances should be considered responsible for their actions. Notions of responsibility can conflict with concerns for protection of the public, and the need to reduce such offending.

Youth Justice reform, alongside general justice reform, was a central plank of the National Party's 2008 election campaign. In John Key's pre election campaign – it was

¹ For the purposes of this paper the 'Serious Youth Offender' = those offenders aged 12 - 17 that commit offences which bring with them a maximum penalty of at least 10 years. This definition includes a wide range of offences, from assault with intent to rob (s 236, Crimes Act), wounding with intent to cause grievous bodily harm (s 188(1)) burglary (s 231) and robbery (s 234) etc etc), Although this may seem restrictive it will allow me to keep in mind the same "offender" when discussing the change in age of criminal responsibility and other discussions with regard to offenders before youth court and transfer of principles in the Adult courts.

² The Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010. ('The Amendment')

³ Discussed further in Chapter three

made clear that if elected, National would get "tough" on youth offenders. On March 6 2010 the National Government passed The Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010 (The Amendment). This new legislation came into force on 1st October of this year. As its name suggests, the Amendment Act focuses on the Youth Court. It not only introduces new powers, orders and increased jurisdiction, it also represents a significant shift in the underlying theoretical principles of the youth justice system. The proposal to include some 12 and 13 year olds within the Youth Court, albeit it on a very limited basis, has been said to represent "the most fundamental change to New Zealand's present youth justice system since its inception in 1989". 5

This paper will provide the basis for an informed and principled critique of the current amendment to the age of criminal responsibility. Recent international, scientific and behavioural evidence will be summarised and linked to the discussion of the amendment. It will suggest how the system can work towards mitigating the affects of this legislation, suggesting that by increasing the jurisdiction to include 17 year olds, providing the Youth Court with the powers of the Family Court and having a qualitatively different approach towards youth at sentencing will provide for tangible reductions in offending and will protect the rights of these vulnerable serious child offenders.

Overall, I aim to make a practical contribution to scholarship in this area, encouraging a reasoned and transparent approach to the much politicised issue of the age of criminal responsibility in the youth justice realm.

⁴ Key, John: State of the Nation Speech, 29 January 2008

http://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c id=1&objectid=10489424

⁵ The Youth Court of New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

CHAPTER ONE

Background

Setting an age for the acquisition of certain rights or indeed, the loss of certain protections, is a complex matter. A thorough understanding of the underlying theories of youth justice and the notion of criminal responsibility is required if an informed consideration of the criminal age of responsibility is to be undertaken. In this chapter I will provide a brief introduction to the concept of the age of criminal responsibility. I will then look to identify the underlying theories of youth justice at play in New Zealand's criminal justice system.

1.1 An introduction to the "age of criminal responsibility"

The 'age of criminal responsibility' is the "age at which a person becomes subject to the full penalties provided by the criminal law". 6 Children below the minimum age of criminal responsibility are considered to be *doli incapax*, 7 that is "incapable of committing an evil act" and as a result cannot be held legally responsible for their behaviour. 8

There are at least two ways of conceptualizing criminal responsibility. The first refers to criminal capacity, criminal intention or mens rea; the age at which the child is considered sufficiently competent to distinguish 'right' from 'wrong'. In this respect, setting the age of criminal responsibility implies that children under that age are presumed to be unable to fully appreciate the real nature of the 'offence' and, as such, are not liable to criminal prosecution. Conversely, children above the age are fully 'responsibilised' and subject to the provisions of the substantive criminal law in precisely the same way as adults, although sentencing options may differ. The threshold here is inextricably linked with the notion of the limited accountability of children and young persons; reflected by their physical, intellectual, and social immaturity in comparison to

⁶ B Goldson "Counterblast: Difficult to Understand or Defend: A Reasoned Case for Raising the Age of Criminal Responsibility" (2009) 48(5) The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice at 514

⁷ The doctrine of doli incapax which presumes that children are criminally incapable is a useful means of providing some flexibility to ameliorate the potential harshness of a minimum age of criminal liability. The presumption allows the Court to consider the individual child's capacity in the difficult "in between years". (Principal Youth Court Judge, Andrew Becroft).

⁸ A Raymond Young Offenders and the Law (Taylor & Francis, Hoboken, 2010) at 43

⁹ B Goldson, above n 6, at 515

¹⁰ A Raymond, above n 8 at 43

adults.¹¹ This is recognised in law by the principle of 'criminal capacity'.¹² Accordingly, the setting of an age of criminal responsibility is a formal recognition that children do not possess the same mental capacity as adults to understand the extent of the criminality of their actions, and their implications as adults. If adolescents have less developed decision-making capabilities, then the rationale for a juvenile justice system that holds adolescents to adult-like standards of criminal responsibility and culpability is challenged.¹³

A second way of interpreting and applying criminal responsibility is less concerned with criminal capacity in itself and more interested in the principle of immunity from prosecution. In other words whether or not the child is deemed to have 'capacity' is not the primary question. Rather, the appropriateness or otherwise of the formal criminal justice apparatus as a means of addressing children's transgressions is the key point at issue. The fundamental submission advanced here is that criminalising children is problematic for reasons that extend far beyond arbitrary constructions of criminal capacity. This paper will be looking at the age of criminal responsibility from both the idea of criminal capacity and the appropriateness of the criminal arena for dealing with the issue of serious child offending.

Undoubtedly any such legal threshold which abruptly deems a chid 'criminally responsible' upon the dawning of a birthday is inherently artificial and arbitrary. Accordingly, the concept of an age of criminal responsibility is a necessary legal fiction. No child suddenly attains the requisite emotional, mental and intellectual maturity upon his coming of age as dictated by law. Yet the imposition of an age threshold to define criminal responsibility, and formally recognise the incapacity of children who are too young to comprehend the implications of their actions, is an absolute necessity in order to have a functioning system of accountability.

Over the years the arbitrary line of the age of criminal responsibility in New Zealand has been manipulated to redefine the problem of youth offending, to accommodate changing attitudes to youth lawbreakers and moved towards which approach should be

 12 which is the "age at which a child is deemed capable of committing a crime and, thus, becomes criminally responsible".

¹¹ B Goldson above n 6 at 515

¹³ Carrie S Fried and Dickon N Reppucci "Criminal Decision Making: The Development of Adolescent Judgment, Criminal Responsibility, and Culpability" (2001) 25 Law and Human Behavior at 1

pursued.¹⁴ The problem is that once this line is established it is easy to overlook the fact that it is arbitrary¹⁵ and therefore changing it becomes difficult.

1.2 Justice and Welfare Approaches

An examination of the theories underlying systems of juvenile justice is invaluable to any such discussion of the age of criminal responsibility. Indeed, an analysis of the so-called 'models of juvenile justice' can be seen as integral to understanding why a particular threshold for criminal responsibility has been chosen by a State over a younger or older age. Moreover, by using these models as barometers in order to assess the measures used by states in the tackling of youth crime, it is possible to gain an accurate impression of the precise impact of such provisions upon children in relation to the set age of criminal responsibility. The two foremost approaches to offending by children and young people in modern criminology are known by the shorthand descriptions of the justice and welfare models. ¹⁶

The welfare approach is a care based approach - it concentrates on factors which lead a young person to commit crime, and mainly focuses on the offender's needs. It is founded on the positivist philosophy of criminology, which assumes that young offenders commit offences as a result of factors beyond their control.¹⁷ Proponents of this view advocate a variety of therapeutic approaches in order to help young offenders cope more effectively with their personal problems.¹⁸ The welfare model gives priority to the protection and rehabilitation of juvenile offenders, while vehemently shunning

_

¹⁴ The notion of the age of criminal responsibility first entered New Zealand's statute books via s22 of The Criminal Code Act 1893 – in line with English practice at the time – it provided that no person under the age of 7 could be convicted of an offence. This provision was repeated in s41 of the Crimes Act 1908, and it was not until 1961 that the age at which a child could be held criminally responsible was raised to 10. The Criminal Code also gave the benefit of the *doli incapax* rule, a defence which has remained available ever since.

¹⁵ Academics over the years have observed that the line is a purely legalistic device as there is no set age at which a child suddenly matures and becomes a responsible adult. International comparisons help to highlight the capricious nature of the line as different countries draw the line at very different ages. A survey of various countries reveals a wide disparity in the ages of criminal responsibility. For example in Sweden the age of criminal liability is 15; in Japan it is 14, in Russia, it is 16, for Portugal 18, in the UK it is 10, and for most offences and Scotland's age of criminal responsibility is only 8.

¹⁶ Joy Wundersitz and Christine Alder *Family Conferencing and Juvenile Justice: The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism?* (Australian Institute of Criminology, Canberra, 1994)

¹⁷ Nicholas C Bala *Juvenile Justice Systems: An International Comparison of Problems and Solutions* (Thompson Educational Publishing, Toronto, 2002) at 6

Lynch, Nessa "The Rights of the Young Person in the New Zealand Youth Justice Family Group Conference" (PHD Thesis, University of Otago, 2008) at 15

the use of harshly punitive custodial measures as a means of dealing with child offenders. Indeed, as the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCROC) dictates, ¹⁹ States must take into account "the desirability of promoting the child's reintegration and the child assuming a constructive role in society." Where the focus is on the child's welfare, the lines between justice and child protection are easily blurred and there is only limited recognition of a child's legal rights. ²¹

The welfare model faces enormous criticism. Opponents argue that a range of abuses are concealed under the guise of the term 'welfare'. First of all, critics disapprove of the limited resource recognition of due process and the young person's legal rights. Second, the broad discretion exercised by the authorities may lead to disparities through subjective, and possibly discriminatory, decision-making and can have a net-widening effect. As

The welfare and the justice model are often described as "two polarities on a theoretical continuum of possible models of regimes of juvenile justice." Indeed, the justice approach was penned as a response to critics of the 'welfare' approach. As a result many of its principles are the exact opposite of those underlying the welfare approach. The justice model, follows the notion that the punishment given out for a crime should be proportionate to the crime committed and has retribution as its primary goal. It is based upon the assumption of an equal balance between the rights of society to protection from criminal behaviour, and the rights of the individual charged to fair treatment under the law. It focuses upon due process and the 'just deserts' principle – essentially the assignment of punishment that is proportionate to the crime. Punishment under the justice model is thus seen as deserved, and is not determined by the offender's needs, as under the welfare model. Instead, punishment is prescribed in order to reflect the magnitude or severity of the crimes committed. This theory of

_

¹⁹ United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990). (The 'UNCROC') The UNCROC is discussed in more depth at Chapter 3.3

²⁰ The UNCROC Article 40(1)

²¹ N, Bala, above n 17, at 5

²²ibid, at 6

²³ Gabrielle M Maxwell and Allison Morris *Family, Victims, and Culture: Youth Justice in New Zealand* (Social Policy Agency and Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, 1993) at 165

²⁴ N, Bala, above n17, at 6

²⁵ G Maxwell and A Morris, above n 23, at 167

²⁶ N, Bala, above n17, at 7

²⁷ A Raymond, above n8 ,at 43

proportionality (connecting the crime and the guilty mind to the severity of the punishment) however, can be highly problematic when applied to child offenders, when the child is too young to fully appreciate the seriousness of their actions and the legal implications that necessarily follow.

Achieving the appropriate balance between "justice" and "welfare" is one of, if not the most intractable issue facing youth justice.²⁸ There is a wealth of research material which suggests that it is not only unjust, but unrealistic, to deny that child offenders are the product of their upbringing and environment and bring with them unresolved care and protection issues which are at the root of their offending. Yet at the same time these offenders are required to be held accountable and face sanctions for offending which is the result, at least in part, of an element of personal choice.²⁹

There is little doubt that the welfare and justice model constructs are particularly important in understanding the historical debate over the appropriate form of youth justice system. In practice no youth justice system fits perfectly into either of the two models. While they may be classified according to the models, actual systems are based on a combination of philosophical rationales, and numerous overlaps between those characteristics defined. Additionally, political, logistical and administrative concerns intrude upon the theory to modify the application of any youth justice model. The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989, New Zealand's youth justice legislation, is largely an example of a 'justice' approach as it seeks to separate justice and welfare processes.³⁰ Section 1.3 will examine New Zealand's current youth justice legislative setting and discuss where its underlying principles and purposes fit in accordance with these models.

1.3 New Zealand's Youth Justice Legislative Setting

²⁸ Andrew Becroft "2010, a big year for the Youth Court – Turning 21 and getting the most out of the Act" (Triennial Youth Court Judges Conference 2010, Waipuna Lodge, Auckland)

²⁹ ibid

³⁰ With the introduction of the new Act, Doolan argues that New Zealand has shifted towards the justice model "without embracing some of the models more doctrinaire aspects." Justice McElrea agrees with this thesis, but takes it one step further, by propounding that "we have created a new creature altogether... a model of responsible reconciliation." See Doolan, Mike *Youth Justice:* Legislation and Practice in Borwn, B J and McElrea F W M (Eds.) *Youth Court in New Zealand: A Model of Justice* (Report no 34, Legal Research Foundation, Wellington, 1993) at 15

Terms such as 'world renowned'³¹ and 'new paradigm'³² are frequently used in connection with the current New Zealand youth justice system and its primary legislation – the CYPF Act. Until this year's Amendment this legislation and the substance of the youth justice provisions had remained unchanged since its enactment in 1989. The history of youth justice in a general sense,³³ and in a specific New Zealand context, is well rehearsed.³⁴ Prior to the creation of the CYPF Act,³⁵ New Zealand followed a welfare based approach through the Children and Young Persons Act 1974. This Act dealt with care and offending cases in a similar welfare based manner, where the primary focus in both cases was on care and protection.³⁶ In the 1990s with the advent of the CYPF Act, New Zealand youth justice practice began pursuing a justice based approach and two entirely separate jurisdictions were born: the Family Court and the Youth Court, making a strict delineation between children and young people in need of care and protection and those offending.³⁷

The 1989 legislation was unprecedented in the English speaking world,³⁸ in the sense that it was designed to develop community alternatives to institutions in order to respond more effectively to the needs of victims, to provide better support for families and their children, to respond to demands from Maori for an increased involvement in decisions about their children, and to reduce the number of minor offenders appearing before the court.³⁹ Empowering families to deal with offending by their young people, particularly through the use of the youth justice family group conference was

-

³¹ Judge Andrew Becroft "Youth Justice Family Group Conferences: A Quick 'Nip and Tuck' or Transplant Surgery – What would the Doctor order in 2006" (paper presented at the International Conference on the Family Group Conference - Coming Home, Te Hokinga Mai, Wellington, New Zealand 27-29 November 2006).

³² Allison Morris and Gabrielle Maxwell "Juvenile Justice in New Zealand: A New Paradigm" (1993) 26 Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology at 81

³³ See generally John Muncie, Gordon Hughes and Eugene McLoughlin (eds.), *Youth Justice: Critical Readings* (London: Sage, 2002), Harry Hendrick, 'Histories of Youth Crime and Justice' in Barry Goldson and John Munice (eds.), *Youth Crime and Justice* (London: Sage Publications, 2006).

³⁴ John A Seymour, *Dealing with Offenders in New Zealand: The System in Evolution* (Auckland: Legal Research Foundation, 1976), Allison Morris, and Warren Young, *Juvenile Justice in New Zealand: Policy and Practice* (Wellington: Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, 1987) Emily Watt, *A History of Youth Justice in New Zealand* (Department of Courts, Research Paper, 2003) available at www.justice.govt.nz/youth/history

³⁵ specifically in the 1970s and 80s

³⁶ Emily Watt *A History of Youth Justice in New Zealand* (Department of Courts, Research Paper, 2003).

³⁷ There is a clear-cut physical demarcation within the statute itself between Care and Protection issues in Part II and Youth Justice issues in Part IV

³⁸ G Maxwell and A Morris, above n 23, at 165

³⁹ ibid

stressed. ⁴⁰A heavy emphasis was also placed on procedural rights, proportionate responses, graduated sanctions, and the timely intervention of Police diversionary practices to focus the young person and their family on their offending.

The CYPF Act gave a legislative base to a 'comprehensive set of general principles,' which were to guide the exercise of powers in relation to young people (s 4) and more particularly the operation of the youth justice provisions of the CYPF Act (s 208).⁴¹ This Act was unique at the time in codifying the principles on which the youth justice system was based.⁴² Section 4(f) of the CYPF Act sets out principles for dealing with children and young people who commit offences. The first clause maintains that such children or young people must be held accountable and encouraged to accept responsibility.⁴³ The second clause states that their needs must be acknowledged so that they can be encouraged to develop in "responsible, beneficial, and socially acceptable ways".⁴⁴ This is a clear example of an attempt to combine both the welfare and justice approaches. Principal Youth Court Judge Becroft refers to these twin objectives as addressing the 'need' and the 'deed'.⁴⁵

Prior to the Amendment, all young offenders under 14 years of age (except when facing murder or manslaughter charges)⁴⁶ were dealt with on the basis that care and protection issues are the primary cause of their offending. They were thus dealt with in the Family Court and could not be charged in any criminal court.⁴⁷ The Crimes Act 1961 established that children aged under 14 have a diminished capacity in respect of criminal

-

⁴⁰ The family group conference which enabled victims and offenders to meet together with the members of the enforcement agency, and the family in order to decide on an appropriate penalty. The family group conference enables the involvement of the family, the young person, and the victim in decision-making at a venue and using a procedure of their own choice and in accordance with their culture.

⁴¹G Maxwell; V Kingi; J Robertson; A Morris; C Cunningham, *Achieving Effective Outcomes in Youth Justice* Final Report (ISBN: 0-478-25142-4, Wellington Ministry of Social Development, 2004) at 7 ⁴² Although statements of principles now appear in the youth justice legislation of other jurisdictions. See for example s96 of the Childrens Act 2001 (Ireland), s3 of the Youth Criminal Justice Act 2002 (Canada), s3 of the Young Offenders Act 1993 (South Australia), s3 of the Young Offenders Act 1997 (New South Wales). In addition, statements of principles are now increasingly common in other types of New Zealand legislation

⁴³ example of the Justice Approach.

⁴⁴ example of the Welfare Approach

⁴⁵ Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft, 'Youth Justice – The New Zealand Experience Past Lessons and Future Challenges'. Paper presented at Australian Institute of Criminology/ NSW Department of Juvenile Justice Conference: *Juvenile Justice: From Lessons of the Past to a Road for the Future*, Sydney, 1-2 December 2003, 10.

⁴⁶ Prosecutions of children aged 10 or more and young persons for murder and manslaughter are heard in the High Court after a preliminary hearing in the Youth Court.

⁴⁷ Under Care and Protection provisions of the CYPF Act 1989 – Part II

responsibility, with s 21 of the Crimes Act 1961 providing that children aged under 10 cannot be held criminally responsible and thus criminal prosecution cannot be brought against them. Children under 14 could only be charged with Murder and Manslaughter.

Section 22(1) of the Crimes Act 1961 also states that children aged from 10 to 13 cannot be held criminally responsible unless it is proved that the child knew what they did was wrong or contrary to law. This is complemented by the common law doctrine of *doli incapax* which was also retained in New Zealand. It applies to children aged 10 -14 and operates as a rebuttable presumption. A child is presumed not to know the difference between right and wrong and to be generally incapable of committing a crime because of lack of understanding. Thus in order to maintain a murder or manslaughter conviction of a child between ages 10 and under 14 the prosecution had to show not only that the child committed the crime with the requisite mens rea - but that the child appreciated that what he was doing was seriously wrong (i.e. prove the child's guilty knowledge). Any presumptions as to the nature of the offence itself will not suffice to prove knowledge.⁴⁸

A distinct set of principles or 'signposts' to guide youth justice are provided in s 208 of the CYPF Act.^{49,50} Section 208(b) of the CYPF Act sets out the principle that criminal proceedings should not be instituted with the sole purpose of advancing the welfare of the child, or young person, or their family. This is strengthened through s 284 which

⁴⁸ *C v DPP* [1995] House of Lords

⁴⁹ Mike Doolan, 'The New Youth Justice - Legislation and Practice' in BJ Brown and FWM McElrea (eds.), *The Youth Court in New Zealand: A Model of Justice* (Auckland Legal Foundation, 1993), 25. ⁵⁰The specific principles guiding youth justice provide that:

- Criminal Proceedings should not be commenced with the sole purpose of providing welfare assistance to the child or young person or their family (s208(b) CYPF Act),
- Any sanctions imposed on children or young people should seek to promote their development within their families and take the least restrictive form appropriate in the circumstances (s208(f)(i) and (ii)), CYPF Act),
- Any measures dealing with offending should seek to strengthen the family and to foster the ability of families to deal with offending by their children and young people (s208(c)(i) and (ii), CYPF Act),
- Children and young people should be diverted from the formal criminal justice system unless it is in the public interest not to (s208(a) CYPF Act),
- Measures imposed should have due regard to the interests of victims of offences (s208(g) CYPF Act),
- Age is to be a mitigating factor in deciding whether sanctions should be imposed and what those sanctions should be (s208(e)(i) CYPF Act),
- Unless public safety is at issue, children and young people who commit offences should be kept in the community (s208(d) CYPF Act),
- The vulnerability of children and young people entitles them to special protection during the investigation of offences (s208(h) CYPF Act)

prevents the Youth Court from ordering supervision, community work, supervision with residence, supervision with activity, or transfer to the District Court for sentencing on the sole grounds that the young person is in need of care and protection.

Furthermore, the Youth Court is entirely separate from the Family Court and so care and protection issues are not to be pursued in the youth justice forum. As Maxwell and Morris argue ".... The New Zealand system attempts to move some way towards a justice approach without abandoning the desire to achieve positive outcomes for young who offend." After 14 years of age, a youth offender could be brought into the Youth Court's jurisdiction. But, even then, there was a process whereby care and protection issues may be referred to a Care and Protection Family Group Conference Co-ordinator at the direction of the Youth Court Judge (with the option then of further referral to the Family Court). When that happens, the criminal charges can be adjourned, and then the offender discharged absolutely. When young people are discharged in the Youth Court, the twin emphasis is on accountability and addressing the underlying causes of offending, but there remains a strong emphasis against welfarising the response. Sa

The Youth Court process is thus reserved for a minority of young offenders.⁵⁴ Its establishment underlines the importance of the principle that the offending of young people should be premised on criminal justice not welfare principles.⁵⁵ A justice orientated approach is also seen as necessary for older youth offenders who are more culpable than their child counterparts. Young people are able to be transferred to the adult criminal courts at the age of 15. Such transfer is possible in two circumstances. Firstly when the offence committed is purely indictable and the Youth Court does not

_

⁵¹ The CYPF Act 1989 s 208(b)

⁵² G Maxwell and A Morris, above n 23, at 2.

⁵³ Judge Andrew Becroft Principal "Children and Young People in Conflict with the Law: Asking the Hard Questions" (XVII World Congress of the International Association of Youth and Family Judges and Magistrates, Belfast, Ireland, 31 August 2006).

The Youth Court deals only with the most serious offences and offenders, but there has been acknowledgement from the Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft that New Zealand now has a persistent underclass, three generations long from which many of these offenders are drawn. Hence it is a mixed bag of results for New Zealand society: on the one hand, progressive legislation to keep children out of the court and the penal system and towards diversionary forms of sentencing like community service, but on the other hand, small but persistent cohorts of youth who are on pathways towards serious criminality. There is a significant ethnic component to this pattern, with Maori over-represented in the negative statistics. The Maori youth apprehension rate is more than three times that of Pacific or NZ European Youth (Child Youth and Family Offending Statistics in New Zealand 2010 at 42).

⁵⁵ That is, on notions of accountability and responsibility for actions, due process, legal representation, requiring judges to give reasons for certain decisions, and imposing sanctions which are proportionate to the gravity of the offence

believe it has the requisite tools to deal with the offending, or alternatively when the offence is punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding 3 months and the young person elects trial by jury under s 66 of the Summary Proceedings Act.

New Zealand's youth justice system was also the first legislated example⁵⁶ of a move in the direction of a restorative justice approach towards offending - and thus away from the traditional justice and welfare responses.⁵⁷ It focuses on repairing harm, reintegrating offenders, and restoring the balance within the community affected by the offence. Both family group conferences and restorative justice give a say in how the offence should be resolved to those most affected by it – victims, offenders, their families, and wider whänau - with the model of decision-making advocated to be by group consensus. Emphasis is put on the need to address the offending and its consequences in meaningful ways.⁵⁸ The key element of this progressive restorative practice is that the offender is not marginalised but accepted as a key contributor to decision-making. Therefore in New Zealand family group conferences are not simply used in trivial cases but also serious offending involving burglary, arson, rape and offences of a similar nature.

New Zealand's youth justice system appears philosophically sound. Indeed it is frequently considered world leading. ⁵⁹ It can be seen that the 1989 legislation was based upon the need to incorporate the justice model whilst acknowledging that on some level a differentiation had to be made between care and protection issues and those where the Youth Court and the criminal justice system were the appropriate forum for dealing with the young person's transgressions, and thus an arbitrary line was drawn at the age of 14. In practice, it faces problems of adequate resourcing and difficulties in adequately meeting both the accountability and welfare needs of child and youth offenders. ^{60;61}

_

Such inadequacies include: inadequate Government funding, inadequate allocation of resources within departments, poor training of social workers, and poor transfer of information between agencies; Judge Andrew Becroft, Principal Youth Court Judge "Youth Justice in New Zealand: Future

⁵⁶ Within a country that operates under the Westminster system

⁵⁷ The New Zealand system, especially the Family Group Conference, has been practised as a restorative justice system, although this was not necessary in order to conform with the provisions of the Act. Restorative Justice is not mentioned in the CYPF Act, yet a restorative justice approach is entirely consistent with its objects and principles. In fact restorative justice thinking and practice had barely begun at the time the CYPF Act was being discussed. Thus the system follows restorative justice techniques although the black letter law did not explicitly envisage this outcome.

⁵⁸ Gabrielle Maxwell and Allison Morris "Youth Justice in New Zealand: Restorative Justice in Practice?" (2006) 62 The Journal of Social Issues at 21

⁵⁹ Andrew Becroft, above n 53

⁶⁰ ibid

Challenges" (paper presented at the New Zealand Youth Justice Conference, New Zealand Youth Justice Conference: "Never Too Early, Never Too Late" Wellington, 17 —19 May 2004) at 7 61 This is discussed further in Chapter 3.3

CHAPTER TWO

The Amendments

On March 6 2010 the National Government passed The Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010 ('The Amendment'). This new legislation came into force on the 1st October 2010. As its name suggests, the Amendment focuses on the Youth Court. It not only introduced new powers, orders, and extended the Youth Court Jurisdiction; it arguably also represented a significant shift in the underlying theoretical principles of the youth justice system discussed above. This chapter will explain the Amendments and will endeavour to understand the motivation behind such a fundamental change.

2.1 Changes for the serious child offender

The most far-reaching change that the Amendment provided was to the child offender provisions of the principal Act. Under the Amendment the age of criminal responsibility remains at 10 years and children may still be prosecuted for homicide, but children aged 12 and 13 years are now prosecutable in two further circumstances. The first is where the child is alleged to have committed an offence with a maximum penalty including imprisonment for life or for at least 14 years. The second is where the child is alleged to have committed an offence where the maximum penalty is or includes at least 10 years' imprisonment but less than 14 years' imprisonment and the child is a previous offender. These child offenders retain the protections of *doli incapax*.

The provision allowing 12 and 13 year old children to be prosecuted for certain serious or persistent offending is a considerable theoretical shift. The restrictions on prosecution of under 14 year olds has been in place since the 1974 Act and since this time, the theoretical basis of the treatment of child offenders has been the presumption

⁶² s14 Jurisdiction of Youth Court (See Appendix A)

⁶³ This definition includes a wide range of offences, from assault with intent to rob (s 236, Crimes Act), wounding with intent to cause grievous bodily harm (s 188(1)), to the lesser known offences of dealing in slaves (s 98) and piracy (s 92).

⁶⁴ Again, this covers a range of offences including burglary (s 231 of the Crimes Act) and robbery (s 234). "Previous offender" is defined in s 4(2) of the amending Act as being a child who has been declared in need of care and protection by the Family Court in relation to an offence attracting a maximum penalty of at least 10 years, or convicted by the High Court of murder or manslaughter or an offence with a maximum penalty of life or at least 14 years' imprisonment, or proved before a Youth Court to have committed an offence with a maximum penalty of life or at least 14 years.

that offending stems from difficulties in the home life of the child, and thus should be resolved through alternative action or the care and protection process. The starting point has been that children who offend do so, in the first instance, because of serious inadequacies in their upbringing. While at that age there is certainly an element of deliberate and personal choice involved, the philosophy prior to the amendments was that unless there are significant interventions into the child's family system then there will be little chance of turning a child away from crime. This is considered especially so for very serious child offenders. The philosophy has been that simply holding such child offenders to account and using a punitive/ rehabilitative paradigm within the Youth Court is unlikely to produce enduring change.

2.2 Youth Offenders in the Adult Court

The age at which a young person may be transferred to the District Court jurisdiction for trial and sentence has been reduced from 15 to 14 years - making such 14 year olds liable to sentences of imprisonment.⁶⁹ By electing trial by jury 12 and 13 year olds can also enter the adult criminal justice system. On transfer to the adult courts the principles of the CYPF Act cease to apply and the principles of the Sentencing Act 2002 kick in. This became clear in July of this year when in *Pouwhare v R*⁷⁰ the Court of Appeal made a judgment on the application of youth justice principles in the District Court and High Court.⁷¹ The appeal here was on a question of law from the High Court against a sentence of two and a half years imprisonment of an offender transferred to the High Court for a conviction of aggravated robbery.⁷² The Appeal asked the question: when a young person is sentenced in the District Court or the High Court, having been transferred for sentence by the Youth Court, must youth justice principles under the CYPF Act 1989 as well as those in the Sentencing Act 2002 be taken into account by the sentencing judge?

-

⁶⁵ With the noticeable exception of homicide

 ⁶⁶ G Maxwell and J Robertson (1995) *Child Offenders: A report to the Ministers of Justice, Police and Social Welfare.* Wellington: Office of the Commissioner for Children; R Boshier (1996) *Child Offenders Manual.* A practical guide to successful intervention with child offenders.
 ⁶⁷ ibid

⁶⁸ The Youth Court of New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

⁶⁹ The Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010 ("The CYPF Amendment Act 2010) New s 283(o)

⁷⁰ *Pouwhare v R* [2010] NZCA 268

⁷¹ This Judgment was given on the 2nd of July 2010 after the Amendment had been passed.

⁷² Pouwhare v R, 16 April 2010, High Court, Wanganui, CRI 2010-483-11, Justice Miller

The Court held that it is the Sentencing Act provisions and principles which apply to the sentencing of a young person who has been convicted and transferred for sentence. While a young person's vulnerability, impulsiveness and lack of maturity will always be relevant, and sometimes decisive to their sentencing in an adult court, the Sentencing Act 2002 analysis would be rendered incoherent if its purposes, principles and aggravating and mitigating factors did not effectively displace the youth justice sentencing principles in s208 CYPF Act. In short, youth justice principles are now not required to be taken into account when sentencing a young person in the adult court.

The Court of Appeal held that, under the Sentencing Act, a Court must weigh the young person's age and the reasons why he or she offended as mitigating factors against the seriousness of his or her offending and prospects of rehabilitation. This sentencing also had to accord with the United Nations Conventions on the Right of the Child where consistent with the Sentencing Act. ⁷³

This decision also reinforced the Court of Appeal's commitment to young first offenders who, by implication, have good chances of rehabilitation. In fact, the Court confirmed that, despite tariff cases such as *R v Mako* [2008] DCR 70 (HC) being indispensable, the effect that age can have on the length of a sentence is "unconstrained by any normative percentage". This opens the way for combined discounts for youth and guilty plea to exceed 50% of an adult starting point. In this case the Court of Appeal upheld the decision of Miller J in the High Court, and the appeal against the sentence of two and a half years was dismissed.

Despite the fact that the Court of Appeal set no limit on the maximum discount that could be given for youth as a mitigating factor, the possibility still arises of child and youth offenders being sentenced to substantial sentence of imprisonment due to lengthy starting points being set by guideline judgments.⁷⁴

The UNCROC provides that children under 18:

- Should have their best interests treated as a primary consideration;
- Must be treated in a way that promotes their sense of dignity and worth;
- Must have their respect for the human rights and fundamental freedoms of others reinforced; and
- Must be given a sentence which takes into account their age and desirability of promoting their reintegration and assuming a constructive role in society.

٠

⁷³ This is discussed further in Chapter three at 3.2.

⁷⁴ This is discussed further in Chapter 4.3

2.3 Guiding Principles

As mentioned above, the guiding principles contained in s 208 of the 1989 Act are the backbone of the youth justice system. Two changes to s 208 are contained in s 6 of the Amendment.⁷⁵ First, the status of the victim is strengthened. While under the principal Act measures must take due regard of victims' interests, now "proper regard" has to be given to the interests and wishes of the victims and the "impact of the offending" on them. Second, any measures must now address the causes of offending. This is evident in the nature of new orders available to the Youth Court: these are designed to tackle the quality of parenting and the extent of substance abuse problems.

Three new orders reflect this change in their underlying principles to address the causes of offending. It introduces through s 30 parenting education orders,⁷⁶ drug and alcohol rehabilitation programme orders and mentoring orders (of up to 12 months).⁷⁷ These new principles show an additional theoretical shift in the Act. An innovative feature of the principal Act was the primary role given to the family in decision-making, as it took the revolutionary step of partially transferring power from the state to families, victims and communities through its Family Group Conference.⁷⁸ It is arguable that following its Amendment the Act has moved closer to the justice model of youth justice through emphasising the victim's rights and that the locus of power has gravitated slightly towards the state by removing the element of self-direction previously present in the Act.⁷⁹

2.4 General Re-organisation

The Amendment also provided for a general re-organisation of s 283 of the principal Act (dealing with Youth Court orders), creating a hierarchy of orders from Group 1 (discharge

⁷⁵ Section 6 The CYPF Amendment Act 2010, See Appendix A

⁷⁶ These programmes are apparently modelled on programmes in England and Wales. If the parent fails to complete the requirements of the order, the Youth Court Judge is empowered to order that a care and protection family group conference be convened in respect of every child or young person in the family. If the young person is a parent or soon-to-be parent, he or she can be required to attend a parenting education programme, and breach will be dealt with as is the breach of any other order.

⁷⁷ The CYPF Amendment Act 2010, s 30 – See Appendix A

⁷⁸ Judge McElrea "New Zealand Youth Court: A Model for Development in other Courts?" (National Conference of District Court Judges, Rotorua, New Zealand, April)

 $^{^{79}}$ Nessa Lynch. "Changes to Youth Justice" (2010) 4(May) New Zealand Law Journal at 130

or admonishment) to Group 7 (transfer to the District Court for trial or sentence). The parameters of the top-end Youth Court order (supervision with residence) are changed to a minimum of three months and a maximum of six months (s 36).⁸⁰

A recognised lacuna in the principal Act was the procedure when a young person breached the terms of an order. The amending legislation provides for a graduated system of responses to breaches of orders. If a child or young person has failed to comply with a court order, the Youth Court is empowered to make another order, or - if the young person is already subject to judicial monitoring due to a previous breach make an intensive supervision order. Hurthermore the Youth Court is now empowered under the amended s311 to make a supervision with residence order subject to the condition that the young person undertakes any specified programme or activity. The Government proposed to develop and implement highly specialized residential programmes that involve but are not limited to, military style discipline. Reference to the introduction of these military-style activity camp programmes is made in the Regulatory Impact Statement included in the explanatory note to the Bill. However it is useful to note that the Bill does not propose a specific military-style activity camp programme order. Activity camp programme order.

⁸⁰ Section 36 CYPF Amendment Act 2010 See Appendix A

⁸¹ For example, currently the family group conference has a wide discretion in its recommendations, but under the amending Act it will be statutorily required to consider recommending drug and alcohol rehabilitation orders, mentoring orders and parenting orders.

⁸² Section 29 CYPF Amendment Act 2010 See Appendix A

⁸³ This includes parenting education orders, mentoring programme, alcohol or drug rehabilitation programme, supervision, community work or intensive supervision order

⁸⁴ This may include curfew, possibly with electronic monitoring

⁸⁵ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009) at 29

⁸⁶ These camps were tagged in the media as "boot camps" and were a prominent part of the National election campaign in 2008.

⁸⁷ Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons, and Their Families* (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Departmental Report (October 2009) at 51, Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons and Their Families* (Youth Court Jurisidicition and Orders) Amendment Bill - Initial Briefing to the Social Services Committee (April 2009), Ministry of Social Development "Fresh Start Package for Young Offenders" (press release, 26 August 2009). The Fresh Start Package put aside \$5.3 million for these camps, describing such camps as "places in army-type facilities targeting more serious young offenders. Up to three months residential training followed by up to 9months intensive support."

s6 New section 311 substituted -The CYPF Act 1989 - See Appendix A

2.5 Contra-flow evident

Finally, while New Zealand has been a world leader in youth justice policy since the inception of the unique and pioneering 1989 Act, the contra-flow' of youth justice policy is now evident. The amendment bears more than a passing resemblance to England's New Labour reforms of the early 1990s, particularly in the lowering of the age of prosecution, the development of new forms of control such as intensive supervision and curfews and in moves to make parents accountable for offences committed by their children. By

What must be asked is in light of such a fundamental change, whether there was good reason to abandon the philosophical framework for serious child offenders present since the Act's inception in 1989?

2.6 The Roots of the Amendments

The legislation is concerned with the small hard-core group of 5 - 15% of offenders⁹⁰ sometimes called "early onset offenders." These offenders pose a greater challenge to the system because it is more difficult to steer them away from a life of crime. No system in the world has had great success with these difficult youth. Their characteristics paint a very gloomy picture. They are typified by backgrounds of

⁸⁹ David, Smith "New Labour and Youth Justice" (2003) 17 Children & Society 226 - 235

- 83% are male, however the number of young women who offend, especially violently seems to be increasing
- Many, estimated up to 70-80% have a drug and/ or alcohol problem, and are significant number are drug dependent/ addicted.
- Most, estimated up to 70% are not engaged with school most are not even enrolled at a secondary school. Non-enrolment, rather than truancy is the problem. 45% have been excluded/ expelled from school.
- Most experience family dysfunction and disadvantage; and most lack positive male role models.

⁸⁸ Nessa, Lynch, above n 79, at 130

⁹⁰ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009).

⁹¹ Terrie E Moffit "Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: A developmental taxonomy" (1993) 100(4) Psychological Review 674 - 701.

⁹² Judge Andrew Becroft "Alternative Approaches to Sentencing" (CMJA Triennial Conference, Toronto, Canada, 12 September 2006).

⁹³Judge Andrew Becroft, above n 53

[&]quot;Looking at the hardcore offenders who commit serious and multiple offences we can observe the following characteristics

poverty, abuse, drug and alcohol problems, mental health issues, educational disengagement and most are already known to the Child, Youth and Family Services (CYFS).⁹⁴

The number of 12 and 13 year olds who are considered serious young offenders by committing the threshold offences, however, are very low. ⁹⁵ The Bill's regulatory impact statement states that Police apprehension statistics indicate that around 80 12 – 13 year olds are apprehended in respect of these offences yearly. ⁹⁶ These figures do not disaggregate those apprehensions where the offence was admitted or proved. Given that Police apprehensions across age groups total over 200,000, these children constitute a tiny segment of the total population apprehended by police. ⁹⁷ In addition, there does not appear to be any evidence that points to a significant rise in criminal offending by 12 and 13 year olds. ⁹⁸ The question thus needs to be asked; what was the impetus behind this Amendment?

2.7 The Politicised Nature of Youth Justice

⁻ Many have some form of psychological disorder, especially conduct disorder, and display little remorse, let alone any victim empathy. Some will also have a specific learning disability, eg. Dyslexia, although research is required to establish the extent of this problem.

⁻ At least 50% are Maori and in some Youth Courts; in areas of high Maori population the Maori appearance rate is 90%.

⁻ Many have a history of abuse and neglect, and previous involvement with Child, Youth and Family Services.

^{- 12%} are living with both parents, 28% with one, and the majority with none"

⁹⁴ G Maxwell, Addressing the Causes of Offending: What is the Evidence? (Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University, Wellington, 2009) at 62

⁹⁵ Evidence on the nature of circumstances of children who become involved in anything other than minor offending at the ages of 12 and 13 years show that they are relatively few in number. In October 1995 when similar proposal was made, Maxwell conducted a study to establish how many children in the previous year met criteria to indicate that they were of serious concern to the police as indicated by being referred for an FGC or having a declaration filed in relation to offending, committed more than one offence excluding minor matters or committed a serious offence such as attempted murder, kidnapping, aggravated robbery, grievous or serious assault, major arson or sexual violation. A total or 109 children were identified but only 11 of these had committed offences that were categorized as maximum seriousness but none of these resulted in serious or permanent harm to another person. Since that time there has been no evidence that the number of children coming to the attention to the police who would fit the same categories has increased and the overall number of children coming to attention has remained stable or declined in that time.

⁹⁶ Ministry of Justice *Child and Youth Offending Statistics in New Zealand: 1992 - 2008* (Ministry of Justice, April 2010).

⁹⁷ Ministry of Justice *Child and Youth Offending Statistics in New Zealand: 1992 - 2008* (Ministry of Justice, April 2010). para 3.2 – total 2006 police apprehensions 203,484.

⁹⁸ Ibid – Over the 1995 to 2008 period violence apprehension rates increased for youth and adults, while the children's rate remained relatively stable: 40 violent offences in 2007 and 39 in 2008.

It is clear that public attitudes about youth crime play a significant role in fashioning youth justice policy. ⁹⁹ In an age where the public reaction towards youth violence has reached new proportions, ¹⁰⁰ and is encapsulated by phrases such as 'zero tolerance', ¹⁰¹ governments have reacted by legislating increasingly punitive measures for the tackling of youth crime. In New Zealand 'getting tough' on crime has become a mantra adopted by many political parties and is not associated with left- or right-wing, mainstream or minor parties. ¹⁰² As in other jurisdictions, politicians from across the spectrum have sought political capital from adopting a tough on crime stance. ¹⁰³

Current societal concern inevitably also reflects the amount and type of media coverage - particularly that given to the most violent and distressing crimes. Commenting on the influence of the media, the BBC has recently reported that in the United Kingdom, crime statistics have gone down even though two thirds of people in England and Wales believe crime is going up. New Zealand data collected just before the Olympics on the television news showed that on average about 20% of the main television news stories were about crime and about half were stories that dealt with either crime or disasters.

Jeremy Rose of Media Watch recently presented data comparing the emphasis on crime and violent deaths in selected lead newspapers around the world; New Zealand came third in the number of such stories.¹⁰⁷ It is not only the amount, however, but also the

_

⁹⁹ L Steinberg and A Piquero "Manipulating Public Opinion About Trying Juveniles as Adults: An Experimental Study" (2010) Crime and Delinquency at 487

¹⁰⁰ This is not to imply that instances of recorded crime amongst young offenders have increased, only that public reaction concerning youth crime has reached new proportions

¹⁰¹ New Zealand National Party, Justice Policy (2010)

<http://www.national.org.nz/PolicyAreas.aspx?S=43>.

¹⁰² Michael Rowe "Policing and 'cracking down on crime': tough questions and tough answers" (IPS Forum Addressing the Causes of Offending, Wellington, New Zealand, February 2009).

¹⁰³ Left governments, beginning with Clinton and Blair particularly, have reshaped the politics of law and order to such that tough on crime is a non-negotiable component of the third way for centre left parties, as well as continuing as a more familiar component of conservative politics. For example British Labour introduced some 14,300 new offences since taking office in 1997 and the new government continues to do so. The Conservative Government in Canada has also taken action to get tough on criminals.

¹⁰⁴ Maxwell, Dr Gabrielle "Changing Crime Rates 1998 - 2007" (IPS Forum Addressing the causes of offending, Wellington, February 2009).

¹⁰⁵ Easton, M (2008) *Crime: Lies and Statistics.*

 $[\]frac{http://www.bbc.co.uk/blogs/thereporters/markeaston/2008/07/crimes\ lies\ and\ statistics.html}{^{106}}\,G.\,Maxwell,\,above\,n\,104$

¹⁰⁷ J Rose Addressing the Causes of Offending: What is the Evidence? (Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University, Wellington, 2009) at 179

type of coverage that is a problem.¹⁰⁸ The sensational, partisan and dramatic media reporting of certain incidents concerning children, has also provided much of the impetus behind these cultural and policy shifts. There is a discernible irony here when the UN Convention suggests that the prime function of the media should be "to disseminate information and material of social and cultural benefit to the child especially [materials] aimed at the promotion of his or her social, spiritual and moral well being".¹⁰⁹ But it is difficult to read headlines which describe children as "Yobs"¹¹⁰, "baby-faced rapist"¹¹¹, "unexploded human time bombs", ¹¹² "New Zealand's Youngest-ever Killer", ¹¹³ or "thuggish losers"¹¹⁴ and conclude that these are "beneficial to the child". ¹¹⁵ The outcome is to distort society's perception of youth crime, unwarrantedly increase fearfulness about personal safety and undermine public confidence in those who are responding to it. ¹¹⁶

Youth Justice reform, alongside general justice reform, was a central plank of the National Party's 2008 election campaign. ¹¹⁷ In John Key's pre election campaign it was made clear that if elected, National would get "tough" on youth offenders, ¹¹⁸ and it

11

¹⁰⁸ N, Bala, above n 17, at 14

¹⁰⁹ Article 17 *United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child* (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990).

¹¹⁰ Sinead O'Connor "Fair Takes Fire From Drunk Yobs" *Manawatu Standard* (New Zealand, 22 December 2008) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/national/771806.

Editor stuff.co.nz "Coached Teenage Rapist to be Freed" *The Dominion Post* (Wellington, New Zealand, 23 April 2009) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/national/crime/2356195/Coached-teenage-rapist-to-be-freed.

¹¹² John Key: State of the Nation Speech, 29 January 2008 http://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c_id=1&objectid=10489424, Honourable Simon Power "Drivers of Crime Ministerial Meeting Opening Address" (Wellington, 03 April 2009).

Youngest killer's bid to be free http://www.stuff.co.nz/national/crime/4072333/Youngest-killers-bid-to-be-free

¹¹⁴ Sinead Boucher group online editor "Patches Identify Thuggish Losers" *The Dominion Post* (Wellington, New Zealand, 30 September 2008) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/opinion/editorials/652584>.

post/opinion/editorials/652584>.

115 Article 17 *United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child* (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990).

¹¹⁶ Scott, E., & L. Steinberg. 2008. Rethinking Juvenile Justice. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press at 102. As Scott and Steinberg describe, moral panics have led to many policy changes, including the passage of Proposition 21 in California, a ballot initiative that greatly expanded criminal court jurisdiction over juveniles and limited the authority of the juvenile court in several ways. As they noted, Proposition 21 was the result of the interaction among intense media interest in violent juvenile crime, public outrage and fear in response to the perceived threat and politicians seeking to capitalize on these fears to win elections or retain popularity.

¹¹⁷New Zealand National Party, Justice Policy (2010) < http://www.national.org.nz /PolicyAreas.aspx?S=43>.

¹¹⁸ John Key 29 January 2008. 2008: A Fresh Start for New Zealand, A State of Nation Speech

moved swiftly to introduce legislation to honour its commitment. The Minister of Social Development and Employment, Paula Bennett expressed that "New Zealanders have been appalled that some of our most serious young offenders are as young as 12 or 13." National argued that the "Family Court simply does not have the tools and solutions to deal with these extremely complex cases." The objective of the reforms was thus aimed to "reduce re-offending by [these] serious and recidivist child and youth offenders and thereby improve community safety." It was argued in the regulatory impact statement that the Amendment, including the lowering of the age of criminal responsibility "fits within the existing youth justice framework in that it focuses on holding children and young people accountable and acknowledging their development needs."

Support was given to the lowering of the age of criminal responsibility by the New Zealand Police Authority who made reference to current care and protection proceedings as complex, lengthy and unlikely to deliver an effective response to offending (from either a victim satisfaction point of view or in addressing the offender's behaviour). As a result, the police response is more likely to err towards the informal: warning the offender and delivering them home, even in relatively serious circumstances.¹²⁵

Despite this support however, the majority of submissions, including those from the Youth Court, Law Committee, Children's Commissioner, psychologists and those that have extensive experience in the youth justice arena - felt there was no case for lowering the age arguing that there is a wealth of credible international and local research which shows that bringing younger offenders into the youth justice system will

_

¹¹⁹ This legislation was introduced as a Bill to Parliament on the 18/02/09 by the Honourable Paula Bennett less than 100 days after National came became the Government of New Zealand.

¹²⁰ Hansard (10 Feb 2010) 660 NZPD 8777.

¹²¹ ibic

¹²² Chapter 3 argues that the Youth Court also does not have the tools to deal with these offenders.

¹²³ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009) at 2

ì24 ibid

New Zealand Police Association "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

[&]quot;This leads to the frequently reported assertion that police 'can't touch', child offenders, and have to wait until they're 14 before they can do anything. While not strictly true, there is enough substance to the belief and it is repeated so often that it is, in [their] view, likely to be contributing to the apparently increasing brazenness of child and young offenders."

not reduce offending. 126 Furthermore they did not feel that such amendments fitted with the general principals behind the CYPF Act. 127

Those objecting to the changes argued that this apparent 'toughness' of contemporary political policy - not just associated with the National Party - actually evades some of the most important questions and challenges in responding to crime in contemporary society. 128 As a consequence, there has been an absence of rational decision-making based on any critical examination of the issues and the evidence available. 129

This is clear the Amendment as at no point in the legislative process or supporting documentation is any reference made to evidence, reviews, and meta-analysis about the likely effectiveness of lowering the age of criminal responsibility nor the likely consequences or costs. The only comment that bears on the justification of these amendments was provided in the Regulatory Impact Report which notes (without reference) that a previous review of the Youth Court found that the length of the current orders does not provide a credible response to the behaviour of most serious offenders, it provides no discussion as to the decrease in the age of criminal responsibility. 130 The same report, however, also notes that these provisions expose New Zealand to possible criticism by the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child. 131 The lack of evidence on the justification and effectiveness of this Amendment coupled with potential international criticisms clearly calls some of these amendments into question. 132 This dissertation seeks to challenge the evidential basis for the lowering of the age of criminal responsibility when the majority of research indicates that alternative strategies are more effective in dealing with this particular age group. 133

It must be noted that a review of all of the legislative amendments is outside the scope of this paper, nevertheless they will be discussed where appropriate in regards to their affect on the Youth Court's new jurisdiction. A cursory view of the Amendments exhibits

 $^{^{126}}$ 35 submitters made comment on the Bill's proposal to change the jurisdiction of the Youth Court to include 12- and 13 year olds. Of those 6 supported it, 2 predominately supported it and 22 clearly opposed it.

¹²⁷ Ibid.

 $^{^{\}rm 128}$ M Rowe, above n 102 , at 185

¹²⁹ M, Smith, above n 107, at 250

¹³⁰ Ministry of Social Development "Fresh Start Package for Young Offenders" (press release, 26 August 2009).

¹³¹ This is discussed further in Chapter 3.3

¹³² This is discussed further in Chapter 3

¹³³ This is discussed further in Chapter 3

substantial support for the lengthening of and increase in the orders available to the Youth Court, particularly by the Youth Court judges who saw them as necessary to provide for tangible interventions in serious offender's lives. The amendment that received the most negative response was the new s311 which relates to a supervision with residence order which could pertain to a "military-style activity camp". The issue was the most commented on overall and most submitters were united in their opposition to the proposal. 136

2.8 A Principled Approach

New Zealand, like the rest of the world, needs to understand the underlying causes of offending and the effectiveness of different strategies if it aims to put in place strategies that will lower the risk of offending, and will avoid actually escalating the offending rates. There is now a large pool of research in the area of lowering the risk of offending. This however, appears to have been vastly outpaced by a political and public interest in serious offending by young people and children. One of the temptations, especially when dealing with the 5% of young offenders who are serious recidivists, is to move too rapidly from a treatment focus, towards deterrence, control, compliance and incapacitation. The original vision of the CYPF Act provided that minimising involvement in the formal criminal justice has been proven to produce better outcomes, and secondly, that in most cases families are best placed to hold their young people accountable and to make the enduring changes in a young person's life that will secure better life-course outcomes. This original vision has clearly been blindsided for the 12 and 13 year olds now entering the criminal justice system. Lord Falconer stated that: 139

an effective penal policy is one in which the public has confidence where communities can see that justice is being done. But it is much more than that. They must see that the system delivers real reductions in re-offending and improvements in the way we protect them from dangerous offenders. The

1

¹³⁴ Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Departmental Report* (October 2009) at 40

¹³⁶ The reason most consistently cited for this opposition was international research into "boot camps" and New Zealand research into the (repealed) sentence of corrective training, pointing to the fact that such camps might actually increase rates of re-offending.

¹³⁷ Judge Carolyn Henwood, above n 94, at 116

¹³⁸ ibid, at 34

¹³⁹ Lord Falconer, then Secretary for State for Justice, United Kingdom, 2007

public needs confidence that they are being kept safe from harm, while offenders are not only being effectively rehabilitated, and their offending behaviour addressed.

It is contended that any new approaches to youth justice should be: effective in reducing reoffending, based on sound evidence, represent value for money and be open to systematic evaluation. Policy that directly contradicts the majority of available research in the area or is based on weak or flawed evidence does not pursue such goals. 140

The next chapter looks at available research; asking what evidence is relevant to make the decision of where to draw this arbitrary line of the age of criminal responsibility. It is acknowledged that the importance of reducing youth offending by the most serious young offenders is pertinent because of the disproportionate amount of crime they commit. However, the level of recidivism and degree of seriousness of the offending does not take away the responsibility of government to deal with youth offending in the most effective ways.

The point was made during the legislative process that "International research shows that even small reductions in offending by serious and persistent young offenders have significant cost and social benefits." It was also acknowledged that the main risk with the reforms, given that they are aimed at a difficult group to turn around, is that they will not reduce re-offending for this group as the causes of recidivism are complex. Both these points acknowledged by the very legislators who passed this Amendment show just how crucial it is that we figure out how to make tangible reductions in this area via evidence and not just the whims of politics.

¹⁴⁰ Kerry Baker *Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements and Youth Justice* (The Policy Press, Bristol, 2009) at 5

¹⁴² ibid

¹⁴¹ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009) at 3

CHAPTER THREE

An Evidential Approach

As mentioned in chapter one there are at least two ways of conceptualising criminal responsibility. The first questions at which age a child attains the capacity to face the criminal law, in other words it questions at which age the child is able to fully appreciate the real nature of the 'offence' they committed. The second questions the appropriateness of the criminal justice apparatus as a means of addressing children's transgressions. This chapter looks at both these conceptions asking firstly: what neuroscience can tell us about the culpability of 12 and 13 year olds' criminal actions. Secondly the chapter questions what available research tells us about the use of the youth justice apparatus as a tool for reducing re-offending, and hence what does this imply about the age at which to set criminal responsibility. Finally it asks what New Zealand's international human rights commitments indicate that the age of responsibility should be.

This chapter is premised on the idea that there is ample research available to guide an evidence based approach to youth justice. This wide array of evidence will be reviewed and used to confirm that there was no principled case for lowering the age of criminal responsibility. The most salient reasons being that the Amendment fails to recognise the limited developmental immaturity of 12 and 13 year olds; is unlikely to reduce the rate of serious child offending; and furthermore it fails to respect the rights of such children.

3.1 The Serious Child Offender's Limited Culpability

Interest in adolescents' relative maturity in comparison to adults, whether pertaining to debates about the age of criminal responsibility, how the US should treat young individuals at Guantanamo Bay,¹⁴⁴ or other matters such as whether the driving age ought to be raised,¹⁴⁵ has been greatly stimulated during the past decade by the rapid

¹⁴³ See chapter 1.1

Laurence Steinberg was asked to evaluate the behaviour of a Guantanamo Bay detainee, Omar Khadrm using developmental science.

Land Transport (Road Safety and Other Matters) Amendment Bill - Parliament: 49 Bill no: 213-1

expansion of knowledge about adolescent brain development.¹⁴⁶ As a consequence explicit reference to the neuroscience of adolescence is slowly creeping into policy discussions as well as legal decision making.¹⁴⁷ What can this neuroscience tell us about setting the age of criminal responsibility?

As set out in chapter one the age of criminal responsibility needs to be set at an age that appropriately reflects the diminished culpability of the child offender. In actual fact, the sole basis of our separate system of justice for children and young people is the principle that we should not expect humans whose brains are not yet mature and fully developed to be fully capable, nor the recipient of adult responses. 148 It is well documented in developmental science literature that the brain is not fully developed until the early 20s and many scientists believe that full cognitive maturity is not achieved until at least age 25 years. 149 The New Zealand Court of Appeal has acknowledged this developmental immaturity stating that "it is widely accepted that adolescents do not possess either the same developmental level of cognitive or psychological maturity as adults." This statement exhibits the integral connection between the developmental immaturity of youth and their level of culpability. Developmental neuroscience evidences the extreme immaturity of 12 and 13 year olds brain development in comparison to older adolescents and adults. Entry into the youth justice arena may be entirely inappropriate for young offenders as a consequence of this developmental immaturity. Regrettably despite this research being of direct relevance to any measure of criminal responsibility such evidence was not followed by the Government when passing this Amendment.

 $^{^{146}}$ L Steinberg "Should the Science of Adolescent Brain Development Inform Public Policy?" (2009) The American Psychologist [739] at 741

¹⁴⁷ ibid

 $^{^{148}}$ This has been the philosophy of the Act up to now (see Chapter 2)

¹⁴⁹ J Giedd and others "Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study" (1999) 2 Nature Neuroscience 10 at 861.

¹⁵⁰ R v Slade & Ors [2005] 2 NZLR 526, p 533, para 43

[&]quot;Adolescents have difficulty regulating their moods, impulses and behaviours (Spear, 2001). Immediate and concrete rewards, along with the reward of peer approval, weigh more heavily in their decisions and hence they are less likely than adults to think through the consequences of their actions. Adolescents' decision-making capacities are immature and their autonomy constrained. Their ability to make good decisions is mitigated by stressful, unstructured settings and influence of others. They are more vulnerable than adults to the influence of coercive circumstances such as provocation, duress and threat and are more likely to make riskier decisions when in groups. Adolescents' desire for peer approval, and fear of rejection, affects their choices even without clear coercion (Moffit, 1993). Also, because adolescents are more impulsive than adults, it may take less of a threat to provoke an aggressive response from an adolescent."

Drawing age boundaries on the basis of developmental research cannot be done sensibly without a careful and nuanced consideration of the particular demands placed on the individual for "adult-like" maturity in different domains of functioning. 151 In other words, the notion that a single line can be drawn between adolescence and adulthood for different purposes under the law is at odds with developmental science. Instead when using such evidence, the focus needs to be on the particular functions of the brain that are relevant to the policy in question - here that being the age of criminal responsibility. On many of the cognitive capabilities relevant to making an informed choice about whether to have an abortion for example, adolescents do not look all that different from adults.¹⁵² However on many of the psychosocial capacities relevant under the law for judging criminal responsibility, adolescents lag considerably behind adults. 153,154 The approach to such policy decisions should necessarily be quite different, and thus generalisations as to when a child reaches maturity cannot be made. In the November 2009 edition of the American Psychologist, Professor Steinberg continued his mission to connect adolescent brain development to public policy regarding teenagers stating:155

It is entirely possible for adolescents to be too immature to face the death penalty, but mature enough to make autonomous abortion decisions, because the circumstances under which individuals make medical decisions and commit crimes are very different, and make different sorts of demands on individuals' abilities.

_

¹⁵¹ L Steinberg and others "Are Adolescents Less Mature Than Adults? Minors' Access to Abortion, the Juvenile Death Penalty, and the Alleged APA "Flip-Flop"" (2009) 64(7) The American Psychologist at 583

¹⁵² Ibid, at 592 – Furthermore by age 16, adolescents' general cognitive abilities are essentially indistinguishable from those of adults, but adolescents' psychological functioning (which is relevant to the commission of crime), even at the age of 18 is significantly less mature that that of individuals in their mid 20s. In this regard, it is neither inconsistent nor disingenuous for scientists to argue that studies of psychological development indicate that the boundary between adolescence and adulthood should be drawn at a particular chronological age for one policy purpose and at a different one for another.

¹⁵³ L Steinberg and others "Reconciling the Complexity of Human Development with the Reality of Legal Policy: Reply to Fischer, Stein, and Heikkinen" (2009) 64(7) The American Psychologist [601] at 694

¹⁵⁴ It is interesting to note that the legal age for abortion is set higher than the age of criminal responsibility when the functions required to make informed decisions such as abortions, develop earlier than those used in crime.

¹⁵⁵ L Steinberg, above n 151

The brain and commission of crime

In order to pursue an evidential approach when determining the culpability of youth offenders the parts of the brain which are relevant to the decision to commit crime must be identified and studied. Writing for the majority of the United States Supreme Court in *Roper v Simmons*¹⁵⁶ whilst discussing the application of capital punishment to a youth defendant, Justice Anthony Kennedy drew attention to three specific aspects of adolescents' immaturity that diminished their criminal culpability: their underdeveloped sense of responsibility (and difficulty controlling their impulses), their heightened vulnerability to peer pressure, and the unformed nature of their characters. All of these can be traced back to changes in the function and structure of the brain.

"First as any parent knows and as the scientific and sociological studies respondent and his amici cite then to conform, "[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young. These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions." ... The second area of difference is that juveniles are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure... The third broad difference is that the character of a juvenile is not as well formed as that of an adult. The personality traits of juveniles are more transitory, less fixed... these differences render suspect any conclusion that a juvenile falls among the worse offenders. (Roper v Simmons, 2005, pp 15-16).

¹⁵⁸ L Steinberg, above n147, at 741.

There are five specific and noteworthy anatomical changes that occur in adolescent brains.

- A decrease in grey matter in prefrontal regions, likely due to synaptic pruning.
- Changes in the concentration of dopamine receptors, especially during puberty, which may cause potentially rewarding stimuli to be experienced as even more rewarding, even in situations where rewards and costs are present.
- An increase in connections between cortical and sub-cortical regions of the brain, which is especially important for emotion regulation.
- A gradual increase in white matter in the prefrontal cortex, due to 'myelination', is one of the last parts of the brain to develop. This is the process of improving the efficiency of neural signalling within the prefrontal cortex.¹⁵⁸ This increased connectivity is important for executive functions such as response inhibition, planning ahead, and weighing risks and rewards. This is where reasoned judgment and impulse control occur. The frontal lobes when fully mature can curb impulses such as those that control aggression and impulsivity which are central to many aspects of criminal culpability.¹⁵⁸
- Furthermore a significant feature of adolescent development is the neutral integration of the left and right hemispheres of the brain. This integration facilitates the development of the capacity to understand the consequences of behaviour, control impulses and undertake reasoned, logical and rational decisions.¹⁵⁸

- Brain systems involved in self-regulation are still developing during this period.
- Adolescents are particularly sensitive to rewards.
- Adolescents do not process emotional information as well as adults, i.e. they are deficient in the synchronisation of cognition and affect: L Steinberg, above n 147, at 724.

¹⁵⁶ Roper v Simmons (2005) 543 US.

¹⁵⁷ As Justice Kennedy wrote:

¹⁵⁹ In addition functional studies indicate that adolescence is also a time of important change in patterns of brain activity.

Overall these developments in the brain provide that the younger an offender the less likely they are able to make reasoned decisions and control their impulses and emotions. Thus in situations that elicit impulsivity, that are typically characterized by high levels of emotional arousal or social coercion, or that do not encourage or permit consultation with an expert who is more knowledgeable or experienced, adolescents' decision making, at least until they have turned 18, is likely to be less mature than that of adults. This set of circumstances likely characterises the commission of most crimes perpetrated by adolescents (which are usually committed in groups and are seldom premeditated.)¹⁶⁰ These circumstances may also be typical of other situations where adolescents are emotionally aroused: in groups, absent adult supervision, and facing choices with apparent immediate rewards and few obvious or immediate costs – the very conditions that are likely to undermine adolescents' decision-making competence.¹⁶¹

This developmental immaturity is further compounded by some of the developmental features of 12 and 13 year olds and the unique characteristics of these serious young offenders. Many of the serious child offenders that will appear before the Youth Court are likely to have an intellectual disability, learning difficulties or poor achievement due to specific factors such as Foetal Alcohol Syndrome or family/ life circumstances and therefore may be chronologically aged 12 or 13 years, but mentally much younger than this. Tendency towards impulsivity is also compounded for young people who have experienced trauma. Persistent trauma such as abuse and neglect causes a young person's brain to adapt in order to ensure survival. This often results in hyper vigilance, elevated heart rate, and elevated levels of stress-related hormones in a child or young person. As chapter two explained the likelihood of the serious young offender being a product of abuse and neglect is extremely high and as a result, it is expected that such children are even more developmentally immature, and hence are inherently less culpable for their criminal actions.

_

¹⁶⁰ D Farrington (2003) "Developmental and life-course criminology: Key theoretical and empirical issues" 41 Criminology at 221, F Zimring *American Youth Violence* (Oxford University Press, New York, 1998), at 221.

¹⁶¹ L Steinberg "Risk Taking in Adolescence: New Perspectives From Brain and Behavioral Science" (2007) 16(2) Current Directions in Psychological Science [55].

^{(2007) 16(2)} Current Directions in Psychological Science [55].

162 Linda A. Gow notes in her submission to the Select Committee that "a recent informal discussion with the staff at Korowai Manaaki (Youth Justice North) suggested that many of the young people in their care aged 14 -17 years are mentally functioning at primary school age (i.e.<10 years old).

Perry, B (1997) "incubated in terror: Neurodevelopmental factors in the cycle of violence", in JD Osofsky, *Children in a violent society* (pp. 124 – 149) New York: The Guillford Press at 131. ¹⁶⁴ Ibid.

Science's role in legislative decisions

Whether and how these findings should inform decisions about adolescents' treatment under the law depends on the specific legal issue(s) under consideration. To various degrees, such decisions rely on value judgments (e.g. about what aspects of maturity are relevant to a particular decision or about what is mature "enough" to warrant autonomy and/ or culpability), which science alone cannot dictate. Nevertheless, the legal treatment of adolescents should at the very least be informed by the most accurate and timely scientific evidence on the nature and course of psychological development. ¹⁶⁵

Developmental psychologists and neuroscientists with expertise in adolescence are frequently called on to provide guidance about the appropriate treatment of young people under the law and about the proper placement of legal age boundaries between those who should be treated as adults and those who should not.¹⁶⁶

The law in New Zealand has developed over the years to reflect both the scientific evidence around the criminal culpability of children and young people¹⁶⁷ and to address the root causes of their offending, through processes designed to provide greater preventative measures¹⁶⁸, support¹⁶⁹ and in many respects accountability¹⁷⁰. Furthermore there is now "incontrovertible evidence of significant changes in brain structure and function during adolescence. Although most of this work has appeared just in the last 10 years, there is already strong consensus among developmental neuroscientists about the nature of this change."¹⁷¹ New discoveries provide scientific confirmation that the teen years are a time of significant transition. Such evidence demonstrates that adolescents have significant neurological deficiencies that result in stark limitations of judgment. Research suggests that when compounded with risk factors of these serious child offenders (neglect, abuse, poverty, etc.), these limitations can set the psychological stage for violence and offending behaviour. These discoveries

¹⁶⁵ L Steinberg, above n147, at 592 - When it comes to the role of developmental science in influencing policy debate, Professor Steinberg is adamant that the science of brain development should "inform" not dictate policy. ¹⁶⁵

L Steinberg, above n151 at 592

¹⁶⁷ Crimes Act 1961, s22, CYPF Act 1989 s208(e) and (h)

¹⁶⁸ CYPF Act s208(a),(c)(ii) and (f)(i)

¹⁶⁹ CYPF Act s208(c)(i) and (ii)

¹⁷⁰ CYPF Act s208(g)

¹⁷¹ L Steinberg, above n147, at 531.

support the assertion that adolescents are less morally culpable for their actions than competent adults and are more capable of change and rehabilitation. It follows that lowering the age of criminal prosecution, even taking into account the thresholds and provisos contained in the Bill, is a retrograde and devolutionary measure, the essence of which runs contrary to scientific developments. Although legal lines will be drawn whether scientists weigh in or not, it is submitted that using science to inform the law – even in the form of educated guesses – is better than using no science at all. ¹⁷²

3.2 The appropriateness of the Youth Justice system for reducing reoffending

Another way to evaluate at which age criminal responsibility should be set is to decide at which age the criminal justice apparatus becomes a useful means of addressing children's transgressions. One of the objectives of lowering the criminal age of responsibility for serious offenders was to reduce reoffending and act as a deterrent for this age group. Evidence however exhibits that bringing 12 and 13 year olds into the youth justice arena will not reduce offending for four salient reasons. Firstly, research has shown that deterrence is unlikely to work for such young adolescents; secondly, the problem of deviant contagion (negative peer influence) arises when children enter the system; thirdly as a result of stigmatization and the 'labeling' process, re-offending is more likely to increase; and fourthly, the Youth Court may not have the ability to deal with the root causes of the child's offending.

Deterrence

It would be difficult to sustain the proposition that the existence and use of the machinery of criminal justice does not prevent some young persons from committing certain types of crime. However, the way that the law achieves this objective is open to doubt. When a serious young offender is caught up in the criminal process many factors operate, and the task of identifying their deterrent impact is not easy. The shock of apprehension, subsequent dealings with the police, the experience of trial and conviction, the reactions of others and the embarrassment, which these cause the

¹⁷² L Steinberg and others "Reconciling the Complexity of Human Development with the Reality of Legal Policy: Reply to Fischer, Stein, and Heikkinen" (2009) 64(7) The American Psychologist at 601. ¹⁷³ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009).

young offender, may or may not come into play. How much each of these factors affects and determines the subsequent behaviour of a young offender is unknown; how this combination of threatened consequences affects the conduct of a 'would-be-offender' is an even more difficult question.¹⁷⁴ Although the shock of a formal process at an early age might be expected to deter children from re-offending, research shows that the majority of youth who are inclined to commit crimes, especially serious and repeat offenders, lack the judgment, foresight, and self-control to be in any way deterred by the prospect of longer sentences, or sentences at all.¹⁷⁵Most studies have failed to uncover any reductions in youth crime rates that can be linked to laws subjecting young people who offend to criminal prosecution.¹⁷⁶

More specifically there is no evidence to indicate that criminal prosecution of 12 and 13 year olds who offend is an effective way to deter crime generally or reduce the likelihood that a child would be less likely to commit further offences as a result of these measures. In actual fact some research shows that young people who believe they will be caught and punished severely actually commit more crime. Evidence from the United States of America shows that children who offend, commit more violent crimes as a result of their experience in the criminal justice system, while they are also more likely to commit more serious new offences than their counterparts, and at a faster rate, continuing into adulthood. Furthermore studies in the United States have shown that the negative effects on children entering the criminal justice system are more likely for those who come from impoverished backgrounds or those who are black. This throws doubt on the suggestion that formal prosecution through the youth justice system is the most effective way of holding serious child offenders accountable

_

¹⁷⁴ L Steinberg and A Piquero "Manipulating Public Opinion About Trying Juveniles as Adults: An Experimental Study" (2010) Crime and Delinquency [487], at 48

¹⁷⁵ N, Bala, above n 17, at 15

¹⁷⁶ Griffin, P. (2008) *Different from adults: An Updated Analysis of Juvenile Transfer and Blended Sentencing Law with Recommendations for Reform.* National Centre for Juvenile Justice.

¹⁷⁷ Children's Commissioner "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill ".

McLaren, K "Youth Offending Teams: What Works to Reduce Offending by Young People" at 4
 E Kooy. (2008) Challenging Course: A Review of the First Two Years of Drug Transfer Reform in

Illinois. Illinois Juvenile Justice Initiative.

180 Jon Gunnar Bernberg and Krohn D Marvin "Labeling, Life Chances, and Adult Crime: The Direct and Indirect Effects of Official Intervention in Adolescence on Crime in Early Adulthood" (2003)

Criminology 1287 - 1318. At 19

¹⁸¹ ibid, Bernberg, Gunnar and Krohn conclude that contact with the formal juvenile justice system has been shown to have a reasonable likelihood of increasing the level of criminal activity in early adolescence. Studies found that the effect of police intervention on crime is stronger among males who have impoverished family backgrounds.

for their crimes, when the majority of serious child offenders who will be subjected to the system are likely to be Maori and come from impoverished backgrounds. 182

Deviant Contagion

Involvement in the youth justice system may also carry the risk of increasing recidivism due to exposure to more detrimental behaviours through association with other young offenders, whether through programmes, residences or court appearances. The majority of 12 and 13 year olds are highly susceptible to peer influence, and bringing them under the Youth Court jurisdiction exposes them to further anti-social peer influences and increases the opportunity for peer influences to operate. Contact with antisocial peers is one of the biggest risk factors in children developing and maintaining conduct problems (of which a large proportion of serious child offenders are likely to have). ^{185,186}

Recent research on residential and group interventions for youth offenders has indicated the large degree of influence a group of "like-minded" peers has on a young person. Known as "Deviant Contagion" or "Negative Peer Influences," such influences reinforce the maintenance of anti-social beliefs and attitudes that support further offending. These concepts originated from outcome studies which showed that some residential and group type programmes for young offenders actually increased offending rates rather than reduced them.

When 12 and 13 year old offenders appear before the Youth Court a supervision with residence order can be made, resulting in their being detained for up to six months in a Child, Youth and Family residence. While such residences are less austere than adult

189 ibid

_

¹⁸² 2008 figures show that Maori apprehension rates are more than 5 times that of Pacific or NZ European. Ministry of Justice *Child and Youth Offending Statistics in New Zealand: 1992 - 2008* (Ministry of Justice, April 2010).

¹⁸³ John Braithwaite, 'What is to be done about Criminal Justice' in BJ Brown and FWM McElrea (edss), *The Youth Court in New Zealand: A New Model of Justice* (Auckland: Legal Research Foundation, 1993) at 33.

¹⁸⁴ L Steinberg, above n151, at

 $^{^{185}}$ Ian Lambie, above n94 , at 64

¹⁸⁶ See chapter 2 for further discussion of the characteristics of the serious child offender.

¹⁸⁷Kenneth A Dodge, Thomas J Dishion and Landsford, and Jennifer E *Deviant Peer Influences in Intervention and Public Policy for Youth* (A Publication of the Society for Research in Child Development, 2006) at

¹⁸⁸ ibid

prisons, they involve loss of liberty, separation from friends and family, and mixing with 14 to 16 year olds. There is a considerable amount of research which shows that placing young children in institutions is damaging to their normal development and particularly due to mixing with other youth offenders, it is likely to increase the risk of further offending. Subsequently, it is necessary that such serious child offenders should be kept out of such residences wherever possible.

With the increased jurisdiction of the Youth Court there is also the limited possibility of 12, 13 and 14 year olds now appearing before the Adult Courts and being given sentences of imprisonment. This too rapidly increases the chance of being manipulated by the negative influences of older and hardened criminals. The risks of moving young people from youth to adult jurisdiction is well documented in literature, with increased recidivism rates apparent. 191 Imprisonment is a particularly poor response to youth crime because of a number of negative psychological and behavioural consequences which occur in young people who are imprisoned as adults, and with adult offenders. In particular, due to their vulnerability, marginalised youth learn to fit in to the prison culture and continue to use that culture's norms upon release. 192 Stealing another person's shoes, violence or joining a gang are normal behaviours from the viewpoint of a "custody culture" which prizes power, status and indifference to the predicament of the other person. 193 Verbal, physical, sexual and emotional abuse is particularly likely for those incarcerated for the first time, those that are small, from a middle class background, or lack "streetwise" knowledge. 194 Further, juveniles in adult prisons are at greater risk of suicide. 195

The 'labeling process'

-

¹⁹⁰ Scotland., Criminal Justice Social Work Development Center for, Buist, Maureen and White, Bill International Evidence about decision making and services for children and young people involved in offending. (2004).

Bishop, D.M. 2000. Juvenile offenders in the adult criminal justice system. Crime and Justice 27:81-167

¹⁹² Andrew Becroft, Principal Youth Court Judge of New Zealand "Children and Young People in Conflict with the Law: Asking the Hard Questions" (XVII World Congress of the International Association of Youth and Family Judges and Magistrates, Belfast, Ireland, 31 August 2006). → any evidence of this other than re-offending? n53

¹⁹³ ibid

¹⁹⁴ ibid

¹⁹⁵ ibid

Evidence also shows that not only does mixing with other delinquents through the system increase the chance of re-offending, confirming a criminal identity early in life also risks attracting these very young children to an anti-social ethos and entrenching behaviour that will lead to further offending as adults. 196 Studies have found that the mere processing of a young person in the Youth Court systems has adverse effects on subsequent criminal offending (controlling for prior offending). This suggests the influence of virtual association with deviant peers through labeling of youth as a member of a deviant category. 197 Principal among the negative effects of involvement in the formal justice arena is the effect of stigmatising the child or young person by labeling him or her as a criminal. 198 The stigmatisation of criminality is highly likely to 'hurt and harden' these very young offenders, alienate them from their family and community, and have a detrimental effect on their motivation to avoid further criminality. 199 This occurs to a more extreme extent due to the sensationalism of the media, who react so vehemently to serious child offending, due in part to the shockingness of such young children involved in such callous and violent crimes.²⁰⁰ Publicity of the names of child offenders inhibits their rehabilitation by assisting in the 'labelling' process of the child. 201 Such labelling makes reintegration back into society more difficult for the child. The international outcry over the release of the two boys' names in the Bulger trial, or the case of Bailey Junior Kurariki are testimony to such a process.

¹⁹⁶ Lambourn, Barbara (ed) *Young and Accountable? Should NZ lower the age of criminal prosecution?* (Summary Position Paper, UNICEF NZ, October 2008).

¹⁹⁷ Johnson, L. M., Simons, L., & Conger, R. D. (2004). Criminal justice system involvement and continuity of youth crime: A longitudinal analysis. *Youth & Society*.

¹⁹⁸ Allison Morris and Henry Giller, *Understanding Juvenile Justice* (Kent: Croom Helm, 1987), 138. Allison Morris and Warren Young, *Juvenile Justice in New Zealand: Policy and Practice* (Wellington: Institute of Criminology, 1987) at 62.

¹⁹⁹ Lambie, I. (2006) *The Negative Impacts on Juvenile Offenders Incarcerated in Adult Prisons*, quoted in Becroft, A.,Thompson, R.: *Symposium Child and Youth Offenders. What works.*, 22 August 2006, Wellington. Downloadable from http://justice.org.nz/youth/media/speeches/child-youth-offenders-what-works-august-2006.pdf.

²⁰⁰ L Steinberg and A Piquero "Manipulating Public Opinion About Trying Juveniles as Adults: An Experimental Study" (2010) Crime and Delinquency [487].

A prominent New Zealand example of this is that of Bailey Junoir Kurariki who was thrown into the spotlight after the Michael Choy murder, and has been flouted as this country's "youngest killer" ever since. The names of the older youths – in particular those were found guilty of murder received no where near the same amount of publicity.

The labeling theorists basically propound that if the child is stigmatized by the criminal justice process, and his family, friends and the media label him as 'delinquent', then the child is likely to accept and reflect this label in his behaviour.

Youth Court lacks the necessary ammunition to deal with care and protection issues

Perhaps the most salient reason not to bring 12 and 13 year olds into the Youth Court is the inability of the Youth Court to deal with the roots of the offending of these young children. Most serious child offenders, in one way or another, bring with them past and/or present care and protection deficits. Attempts to reduce the offending of such children are best done in the community, and better still in the context of the environment which probably contributed to the offending and to which the child will have to return. Such an attempt is likely to reduce the child's chance of re-offending rather than stigmatising the child and placing them amongst others who will reinforce their criminal behaviour. By bringing such children into the Youth Court it raises the profound risk of criminalising what is essentially a welfare issue. Addressing such issues in the criminal courts, especially to the extent necessary to fully resolve them, runs the risk of "welfarising" and prolonging the justice response and compromising the principle of proportionality of response.

There is real concern by Youth Court Judges that the Court will be assuming the responsibility for the worst child offenders, "who by definition will have the most serious care and protection issues, but that the Youth Court will not have the necessary statutory "ammunition" to deal with the inevitable care and protection concerns." To be given the jurisdiction to deal with these child offenders is one thing, but to be given the responsibility to deal with them without the powers to address what are likely to be the root causes of their offending (care and protection) is quite another. The Amendment in its finality provided that the Youth Court judges were able to divert children to the Family Court's jurisdiction if they consider that it is appropriate for the child to be dealt with under its care and protection provisions. Despite this, it is arguable that it would be better for the Act itself to prescribe laws which are appropriate to the

_

²⁰² As mentioned in chapter two

²⁰³ Sending out an SOS – Youth Justice needs the Community, Judge Becroft, Working Together Conference, November 2007-

²⁰⁴ As mentioned in chapter two, previously in all cases of child offending, the matter had to be dealt with by way of a Family Group Conference and if necessary an application could be made to the Family Court that the young persons was in need of care and protection. This reflected the philosophical assumption that children who offend must be viewed in the context of their family.
²⁰⁵ This option is discussed in Chapter 4.2.

The Youth Court of New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

ages and stages of children, rather than relying on the discretionary powers of the judges to ensure that children are treated appropriately.²⁰⁷

Conclusion

The point to be made here is that bringing serious young offenders into the youth justice arena is unlikely to work in the sense of reducing reoffending and may in fact make the situation worse. Legislators and policy makers need to know much more about effective policy choices for reducing serious offending by 12 and 13 year olds before that goal can be used as a substantive reason to lower the age of criminal responsibility. It is arguable that until evidence is provided that bringing 12 and 13 year olds into the youth justice system will actually fulfill tangible policy goals, it might be best to adopt, as a preliminary solution, the view that, in devising strategies for dealing with young offenders – particularly child offenders – we should not sacrifice other objectives such as upholding the rights of the child in the pursuit of the populist aim.

3.3 International Human Rights Instruments

The above summaries of developmental evidence and brain science have established that lowering the age of criminal responsibility to 12 is unlikely to reduce the rate of reoffending in this selected group of children, and neither does it adequately reflect their capacity to comprehend their actions. The third element of the age of criminal responsibility that needs to be analysed is the rights of these children recognized through law. The current Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft has challenged New Zealand society stating that:

rather than succumb to simplistic public pressure to "get tough", child and youth justice systems must take as their foundation the principles that uphold the rights of children and young people.

-

²⁰⁷ refer to chapter 4.2.

²⁰⁸ Andrew Becroft, above n53

International obligations have also challenged jurisdictions to be more transparent and evidence led in their approach to children and young people and to demonstrate effectiveness in their practices.²⁰⁹

Although there is no categorical international standard regarding the age at which criminal responsibility can reasonably be imputed to a child, ²¹⁰ key international conventions on youth justice contain a number of principles that are vital for a measured and dispassionate response to child offending. ²¹¹ Three specific international instruments are relevant to New Zealand's treatment of youth offenders: The United Nations Conventions on the Rights of the Child ('UNCROC'), ²¹² The Standard Minimum Rules for the Administration of Juvenile Justice ('the Beijing Rules'), ²¹³ and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)²¹⁴.

Forty-two years ago New Zealand ratified the ICCPR and thereby undertook to ensure that the rights and freedoms contained in the covenant were recognised by government. Most of the rights in the ICCPR were embodied in the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 (NZBORA). Whilst the NZBORA does not provide any special rights for young offenders, it does state that children are to be 'dealt with in a manner that takes account of their age', which implies that young offenders should be treated differently and more leniently than adults. ²¹⁶

In accordance with s 7 of the NZBORA the 2010 Amendment Bill was reviewed for consistency with the NZBORA.²¹⁷ The Attorney General reported to Parliament that while issues under ss 11, 17, 22 and 25(1) of the NZBORA arose, in respect of the Bill, it

209 Duiet Maurean and White

²⁰⁹ Buist, Maureen and White, Bill *International Evidence about decision making and services for children and young people involved in offending* (Criminal Justice Social Work Development Center for Scotland, 2004) at 3.

²¹⁰ B Goldson, above n 6, at 8

²¹¹ Andrew Becroft, above n 53

²¹² United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990).

²¹³ United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Administration of Juvenile Justice, GA Res 40/33, UN Doc A/40/53, Annex, 40 U.N. GAOR Supp.No.53 (1985) at 207.

²¹⁴ International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (Adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by GA Res 2200A (XXI) of 16th December 1966, entry into force 23rd March 1976 in accordance with art. 49)

²¹⁵ G Maxwell above n94, at 93

²¹⁶ ihid

²¹⁷ Casey, Victoria Advice to the Attorney-General on the Consistency with the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 of the Children Young Persons & Their Families (Youth Courts Jurisdiction & Orders) Amendment Bill (Crown Law, 5 February 2009)

concluded that these issues gave rise to no inconsistency.²¹⁸ The review noted that the lowering of the age of prosecution for certain offences under the Bill requires consideration of the fair trial rights guaranteed in s 25 of the Bill of Rights Act, and in particular the right in s 25(i) "... in the case of a child, to be dealt with in a manner that takes account of the child's age."²¹⁹

The report also noted that a 12 or 13 year old (as well as 14, 15, 16 and 17 year olds) charged with a serious offence may opt for trial by jury, which will remove the hearing from the Youth Court and place it into the Adult Court. In that situation the presiding Judge will be under an obligation to ensure compliance with s25(i), and the principles underlying the Youth Justice regime will generally continue to be applied. It is arguable however, that this proposition no longer exists with the decision of the Court of Appeal in – Rv Pouwhare which held that when sentencing a child in the adult Courts the judge cannot have regard to the principles set out in the CYPF Act, instead only the Sentencing Act 2002 is of relevance.

Looking further afield the UNCROC is the most relevant piece of international law in regards to New Zealand's youth justice system. It gives the rights of children and young people, at least in theory, a central place in international law. By signing and ratifying the UNCROC, New Zealand has signified its willingness to be bound by its principles. Whilst the status of the UNCROC in domestic law remains interpretive rather than

_

s11 – the right to refuse to undergo medical treatment, s17 – freedom of association, s22 – liberty of the person, s25(1) – minimum standards of criminal procedure

²¹⁹ See also United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, article 40.

 $^{^{220}}$ See, for example, SC v United Kingdom (2005) 40 EHRR 10, [29].

²²¹ R v C (CA312/91, 28/09/91)

Whilst age is still considered a mitigating factor under the Sentencing Act it is likely that those convicted to these Courts for the commission of serious offences may receive substantial sentences due to such sentencing processes as starting points and guideline judgments which "bind" the court.

223 Subject of course to the three reservations which New Zealand has entered. The New Zealand

²²³ Subject of course to the three reservations which New Zealand has entered. The New Zealand Government ratified the UNCROC in March 1993, following a comprehensive review of legislation. In doing so, New Zealand became the one hundred and thirty-first country to ratify the Convention. The New Zealand Government entered three reservations to UNCROC when ratifying the convention in 1993. These reservations which still stand were made in respect of the following Articles of the Convention:

⁻ Article 22.1 – requires State Parties to take appropriate measures to ensure that children seeking refugee status are provided with the same rights under the UNCROC as other children as well as appropriate protection and humanitarian assistance.

⁻ Article 32.2 – requires, inter alia, State Parties to provide a minimum age of entry into employment.

⁻ Article 37(c) – requires, inter alia, that State parties ensure that children deprived of their liberty are separated from adults unless it is in the child's best interest not to do so.

definitive, it has a vital role in providing a benchmark against which the New Zealand youth justice system can be measured.²²⁴

Article 3(1) of the UNCROC – amongst the most widely adopted international human rights instrument in history provides:²²⁵

in all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration.

More specifically, Article 40 of UNCROC establishes a set of minimum international juvenile justice standards, including:²²⁶

That children and young people shall be treated in a manner which takes into account their age and the desirability of promoting reintegration and their assuming a constructive role in society²²⁷ ... That State Parties shall establish a minimum age below which children shall be presumed not to have the capacity to infringe the penal law.

The United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child²²⁸ recommends "the age of 12 years as the absolute minimum' and encourages governments to 'continue to increase it to a higher level".²²⁹

The provisions of UNCROC are complemented by the UN Guidelines for the Administration of Juvenile Delinquency "The Riyadh Guidelines", ²³⁰ the United Nations

²²⁴ Nessa Lynch, 'Youth Justice in New Zealand: A Children's Rights Perspective' (2008) 8 *Youth Justice* 215

²²⁵ United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990).

²²⁶ UNCROC (Article 40.3(a))

²²⁷ UNCROC (Article 40.1)

²²⁸ United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child 2007, para. 16)

²²⁹ B Goldson, above n6, at 8

United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency ("The Riyadh Guidelines"), G.A res 45/112, annex, 45 U.N GAOR Supp. (No49A) at 201 U.N Doc. A/45/49 (1990).

The Riyadh Guidelines insist that young people should have an active role and partnership within society and should not be seen as "objects of socialization or control." Anti-social behaviour should be seen as "part of the maturation & growth process" that will disappear with the transition to adulthood.

Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty,²³¹ and the United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Administration of Juvenile Justice "the Beijing Rules" being the most relevant.²³² The Beijing Rules are not a legally binding treaty of themselves, being simply United Nations recommendations on minimum standards for national youth justice systems, however they expand on the international norms set out in the UNCROC, stating at clause 4.1:²³³

in those legal systems recognizing the concept of the age of criminal responsibility for juveniles, the beginning of that age shall not be fixed at too low an age level, bearing in mind the facts of emotional, mental and intellectual maturity.

The Commentary to clause 4.1. of the Beijing Rules provides further context stating:

The modern approach would be to consider whether a child can live up to the moral and psychological components of criminal responsibility... if the age of criminal responsibility is set too low or if there is no lower age limit at all, the notion of responsibility becomes meaningless ... Efforts should therefore be made to agree on a reasonable lowest age limit that is applicable internationally.

Although these documents provide no precise indication what that age should be – and different ages attract criminal responsibility in different countries, ²³⁴ the UN Committee responsible for monitoring compliance with UNCROC has already commented negatively on the age at which a child can be charged with a serious criminal offence in New Zealand. ²³⁵New Zealand's age of criminal responsibility was considered by the UN in 2003, as part of the New Zealand Government's reporting obligations under UNCROC. Rather than finding that New Zealand's current laws conformed with international juvenile justice norms, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child instead expressed

_

²³¹ United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, G.A. res 45/113, annex, 45 U.N. GAOR Supp. (No.49A) at 205, U.N. Doc A/45/49 (1990)

These rules describe optimal custodial arrangements for children. These include imprisonment in small open facilities with individualized treatment, contact with family members, and staff trained in child welfare and human rights.

²³² United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Administration of Juvenile Justice, G.A. res. 40/33, Annex, 40 U.N. GAOR Supp.No.53, at 207, U.N. Doc. A/40/53 (1985). Hereinafter the Beijing Rules ²³³ Beijing Rules Clause 4.1

²³⁴ see above n15

²³⁵ United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child 2003, 2007 reports.

its concern at New Zealand's low age of criminal responsibility²³⁶ and recommended that the Government:²³⁷

raise the age of criminal responsibility to an internationally acceptable age and ensure that it applies to all criminal offences²³⁸; and ... extend the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act of 1989 to all persons under the age of 18.

Furthermore in its 2007 General Comment on Children's Rights in Juvenile Justice, the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child strongly recommended that the lowest age for criminal responsibility be set at 14 or 16 years and expressly urged State Parties against lowering the age of criminal responsibility to 12:²³⁹

Rule 4 of the Beijing Rules recommends that the beginning of the Minimum Age of Criminal Responsibility (MACR) shall not be fixed at too low an age level, bearing in mind the facts of emotional, mental and intellectual maturity. In line with this rule the Committee has recommended States parties not to set a MACR at a too low level and to increase the existing low MACR to an internationally acceptable level.... the Committee urges State Parties not to lower their MACR to the age of 12.A higher MACR, for instance 14 or 16 years of age, contributes to a juvenile justice system, which in accordance with Article 40(3)(b) of CRC, deals with children in conflict with the law without resorting to judicial proceedings, providing that the child's human rights and legal safeguards are fully respected²⁴⁰ [emphasis added]

Thus although the human rights instruments refrain from specifying an arbitrary age of criminal responsibility, it can be assumed that the practices of unequivocally 'responsibilising' and 'adultifying' children from the age of 12 years is clearly at odds with the core principles underpinning the 'Beijing Rules', the UNCROC and several other authoritative statements of children's human rights.²⁴¹ This is especially so when one bears in mind the evidence discussed earlier which states that the emotional, mental

²³⁶ CRC/C/15/Add.216 at para. 20.

²³⁷ ibid. at para. 21(b).

²³⁸ ibid. at para. 21(a).

²³⁹ CRC/C/GC/10, 2007, at paras. 32 and 33

²⁴⁰ ibid, at paras.32 and 33

²⁴¹ See for example, United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child 2007, Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights 2009, United Nations Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (1984)

and intellectual maturity of these serious child offenders (aged 12 and 13) is so low. If a 12 year old must face the adult court process or something similar to it, it can hardly be said that the international principles are being upheld.

It follows that by lowering the age of criminal prosecution, the Amendment moves in an opposite direction from the international youth standards and principles that the New Zealand Government has pledged to implement. As a result this Amendment may bring New Zealand a degree of international disrepute while also damaging our reputation as a nation which takes its international human rights obligations seriously.

During the Select Committee process much criticism was directed at the Bill due to the inconsistency between the Amendments and these International Human Rights Instruments. The response repeatedly given to such criticisms was that "because such a high threshold has been set,²⁴² the lowering of the age of criminal responsibility does not unduly increase costs or unnecessarily expose child offenders to the criminal justice system."²⁴³ In spite of this it is clearly a concern that the aforementioned rights have been dismissed by officials, as seen in the explanatory note to the Bill, on the premise that only a few young people will be prosecuted under them. The Amendments do not comply with international human rights standards irrespective of how many young people are prosecuted.

3.4 Conclusion

In summary, this evidence suggests that lowering of the age of criminal prosecution represents a major legislative failure. The most salient three reasons being; it does not match with scientific evidence regarding the capacity of 12 and 13 year olds (particularly those likely to be brought before the Court); further, it is unlikely to lead to a reduction in serious child offending and, finally, it does not comply with the international agreements regarding the rights of children to which New Zealand is a party. Such evidence and documents clearly have a role to play in the legislative decisions of New Zealand's Government.

²⁴² Offences punishable by a sentence of 14 years imprisonment or more and repeat offending for offences punishable by 10 years imprisonment or more.

²⁴³ Ministry of Social Development A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement (Executive Summary, 2009) at 2

Despite these reservations it is recognised that the amended legislation has been passed and came into force on 1st of October this year.²⁴⁴ These serious child offenders will become an integral part of the New Zealand Youth Justice system for the foreseeable future. The next chapter acknowledges this and suggests legal and policy changes to the current youth justice system that can mitigate these flaws.

=

²⁴⁴ Date of Assent = 6 March 2010.

CHAPTER FOUR

The Way Forward

As evidenced in chapter three bringing 12 and 13 year old serious child offenders into the Youth Court jurisdiction has multiple flaws. Firstly it may bring New Zealand's international reputation into disrepute; secondly it is likely to fail to reduce re-offending; and thirdly such reduction fails to recognise the limited culpability of these individuals.

This chapter sets out to offer some practical suggestions to combat these problems. Whilst an obvious option would be to repeal the legislation - this is unlikely and thus other alternatives must be put forward. In order to stop the Youth Court from falling short of its potential it is suggested that Parliament legislate to expand the Youth Court's jurisdiction to include 17 year olds, and also to provide the Youth Court with s 83 powers of the Family Court which will give them the ability to deal with care and protection issues at the root of the child's offending. Finally this chapter will attempt to foreshadow a principled approach to the sentencing of serious child and youth offenders taking into account the scientific evidence discussed in chapter three with regard to the culpability of the serious child offender.

4. 1 A Further Extension of the Youth Court's Jurisdiction

This paper recommends that the reach of the Youth Court be extended to incorporate 17 year olds into its jurisdiction. The exclusion of 17 year olds from the CYPF Act is inconsistent with the definition of a child or young person under UNCROC which defines adulthood as starting at a young persons 18th birthday. The UN Committee has recommended, on two occasions, that New Zealand should bring its legislation into line with UNCROC by raising the age that an offender can stay within the Court's jurisdiction 245.

This proposal is not new to Parliament. In December 2007 the Children, Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No 6) was introduced to Parliament and was returned to the House following a report by the Social Services Select Committee in August 2008. One of the

²⁴⁵ United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child 2003 and 2007 reports

key amendments this Bill proposed was to include 17 year olds in the Youth Court Jurisdiction. 246

With their newly increased orders, such as the extended length of supervision orders and alcohol and drug programmes, the Youth Court is now better equipped to deal with 17 year old offenders; therefore arguably making it the ideal time to make this amendment. This amendment may also counterbalance the international disrepute New Zealand risks with the lowering of the age of criminal responsibility, ²⁴⁷ and finally it will allow for those 17 years that can be dealt with effectively in the Youth Court to remain out of the adult jurisdiction.

The proposed inclusion of 17 year olds in the Youth Court would bring New Zealand into line with the UNCROC, and most of the world's other major democracies, including most Australian States, 38 US States, Canada and Great Britain. Such amendment would bring New Zealand into equilibrium with other jurisdictions and "would be consistent with our international obligations". ²⁴⁸ It is New Zealand which is clearly out of step at the present.

The age of adult responsibility specified in many other New Zealand statutes is 18. One of the notable exceptions is under s 20 of the Land Transport Act, which allows 15 year olds to hold driver licences. It is no coincidence that the minimum age of driver licensing is also a frequent target for calls of law reform. There are a significant number of New Zealand statutes that restrict activities and involvement for those under 18. For instance a person cannot vote, enlist in the military without consent, buy alcohol and tobacco or enter into contracts until they are 18. Presumably the basis for these laws is that until 18, it is not appropriate to treat young people as adults and they need guidance and protection. This amendment would therefore be perfectly consistent with this approach which is reflected in so many other areas, essentially that young people should not be dealt with in the adult courts until they are 18.

-

²⁴⁶ Currently young offenders lose the Youth Court's jurisdiction on the dawning of their 17th birthday As mentioned in chapter three, New Zealand is already out of favour with the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child due to our failure to accord with the provisions of the UNCROC. New Zealand is likely to be brought into even further international disrepute, as we are now conflicting with the UNCROC at both ends of the spectrum.

²⁴⁸ December 2007 Court in the Act, Youth Court Newsletter, Judge Becroft

²⁴⁹ Land Transport (Road Safety and Other Matters) Amendment Bill - Parliament: 49 Bill no: 213-1 Introduction: 13/9/10 First reading: 16/9/10 Referred to: Transport and Industrial Relations Committee

Chapter three provided that references to developmental science are useful when making legislative decisions regarding the drawing of lines in reference to age. Recent research into the development of teenage brains suggests that decision making and cognitive functions do not fully develop until a person reaches their mid twenties. This suggests that 17 year olds should not be included in adult legislation. Furthermore including 17 year olds in the Youth Court jurisdiction extends the system's ability to apply youth justice solutions to this group of offenders and their families, and to promote meaningful and long lasting accountability. Such change would also radically increase the opportunities for diverting less serious 17 year old offenders out of the criminal justice system, which has been used to such great effect by Police Youth Aid for 14-16 year olds. This would also help to reduce the so called "pipeline" effect by restricting the entry of a 17 year old into the formal criminal justice system. Furthermore the additional orders the Youth Court has received, provide more ability for the Youth Court Judge to hold the older youth accountable for their offending, whilst also keeping them away from the negative effects of entering the adult jurisdiction.

It should also be emphasised that public concern that including 17 year olds within the youth justice system will result in a "soft approach" for 17 year olds, is ill founded. Section 4(f)(i)of the CYPF Act directs the Court and all involved in the youth justice system to ensure that young people are held accountable and are encouraged to accept responsibility for their behaviour. It is correct that 17 year olds would be entitled to the same protections and procedural safeguards as are currently enjoyed for 14 – 16 year olds if the Youth Court's jurisdiction were to be extended to include them. However, in one crucial respect, 17 year olds will be treated differently to 14 – 16 year olds. Section 18 of the Sentencing Act 2002 prohibits imprisonment being imposed on those who offend as under 17 year olds for all but purely indictable offences. Self-evidently, this restriction would not apply to offences committed by 17 year olds. Thus, 17 year olds who commit serious or persistent non-purely indictable offences, would still be liable to imprisonment just as they are now, through the operation of s283(o) of the CYPF Act which allows the Court to convict and transfer the young person to the District Court for sentence. In response to commentary which suggests that increasing the age of Youth

_

 $^{^{250}}$ discussed in more depth at Chapter 3.1

²⁵¹ Through such options as the Family Group Conference

²⁵² Ministry of Justice *Child and Youth Offending Statistics in New Zealand: 1992 - 2008* (Ministry of Justice, April 2010).

²⁵³ As discussed in Chapter 3.2

²⁵⁴ Parenting orders, counseling, alcohol and drug rehabilitation programmes, longer supervision etc.

Court jurisdiction to 18 will mean that 17 year olds will not be held to account for their offending, Judge Becroft has said that these ideas are "unhelpful, misleading, inaccurate and just plain wrong". ²⁵⁵

An article in "Court in the Act"²⁵⁶ from January 2009 summarises the work of Richard Redding and is entitled "Juvenile Transfer Laws: An Effective Deterrent to Delinquency?" In summary Redding's review of six large scale studies found higher recidivism rates for young offenders transferred to the Adult Court than for those retained in the Youth Court. The article goes on to describe in detail the reasons why youth tried as adults have higher recidivism rates.^{257, 258}

All the aforementioned discussion provides support for this legislative amendment to the jurisdiction of the Youth Court. Interestingly this Bill was reinstated in the 49th Parliament and is thus still technically on the Government's legislative agenda, but is currently stalled with the Social Services Select Committee. ²⁵⁹ This leaves the possibility of such legislative amendment as a genuine option, available to the Government of the day.

2.5

Transfer laws have no effect

Singer and McDowall (1988) in time series analysis, New Y ork no deterrent effect on youth crime 1974-1984. Lee and McCary (2005) in Florida. YP did not lower their offending rates upon turning 18 (adult sanctions not a deterrent).

Deterrence

The following studies examined the increase in recidivism for YP transferred to adult courts compared to youth courts:

Fagan (1996) examined 800 Y O charged with burglary 1981-82. 91% recidivism compared 73% in YC. Bishop (1996) compared 1 year recidivism rate of 2,738 young offenders in Florida. Rearrest rates were higher among transferred youth (0.54 versus 0.32). The average time to reoffending was shorter also (135 versus 227 days) Myers (2001, 2003) examined 18 month recidivism of 494 young offenders in Pennsylvania in 1994. Transferred youth were 2 times more likely to be rearrested and to reoffend. OJJDP funded studies. Lanza-kaduce and colleagues (2005): 950 young adult offenders studied. Half had been transferred and half committed in a Youth Court. Overall offences – 49% of transferred offenders reoffended compared to 35% of those retained in a youth court.

²⁵⁹ Children Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill (No 6)

²⁵⁵ December 2007 Court in the Act, Youth Court Newsletter, Judge Becroft

²⁵⁶ December 2007 Court in the Act, Youth Court Newsletter, Judge Becroft

²⁵⁷ Richard Redding (2007) Juvenile Transfer Laws: An Effective Deterrent to delinquency? – Court in the Act, Youth Court Newsletter

²⁵⁸ **Transfer laws do not lower youth crime** 1980s Jensen and Metsger (1994). Time-series analysis for 1976 to 1986 found 13% increase in arrest for 14-18 year olds in Idaho after that state introduced its transfer law in 1981. Steiner and Wright (2006) Multi- state (14). Time-series 1975-2000. Transfer laws had no general deterrent effect. 13 either increased or stayed same. Michigan decreased.

4.2 Transfer of Family Court's Care and Protection Orders to the Youth Court

This paper has argued that the Youth Court is not the correct jurisdiction for 12 and 13 year olds primarily because they should not be held criminally responsible for their actions, on the basis that the root causes of their offending are likely to be of a care and protection origin. The offending is viewed as systemic of the environment the child is currently living in rather than being focused on the individual. Thus dealing with the child offender in a criminal jurisdiction, albeit a juvenile one, is inappropriate to reflect the limited culpability on their behalf. It is also likely to be ineffective at reducing their re-offending by failing to deal with the real causes of this serious offending. The few evaluations of programmes that focus on serious child offenders show that to be successful with rehabilitating them work must originate with their families and problems present in their upbringing. ²⁶¹

Chapter two of this paper discussed the clear line drawn in the CYPF Act between the separate jurisdictions of the Family Court and the Youth Court. Such strict delineation is essential to ensure that care and protection issues are not to be pursued in the youth justice forum. There is a strong emphasis against welfarising the response to any form of offending. Now that serious child offenders have been brought into the Youth Court's jurisdiction arguably the line between care and protection issues and offending behaviour has already been blurred.

The issue then becomes how is the Youth Court to deal with such offenders if the available sentencing options the Court has cannot address the basis of the offending – essentially that of their environment. During the Select Committee process the Youth Court expressed their apprehension that they "[do] not have the necessary

²⁶¹ C Nee "The Offender's Perspective On Crime: Methods and Principles in Data Collection" in A Needs and G Towl (eds) *Applying Psychology to Forensic Practice*. (BPS Blackwell, London, 2004) at 91 ²⁶² S208(b) CYPF Act

²⁶⁰ See chapter two for further discussion on this.

²⁶³ The establishment of the Youth Court underlines the importance of the principle that the offending of young people should be premised on criminal justice not welfare principles; that is, on notions of accountability and responsibility for actions, due process, legal representation, requiring judges to give reasons for certain decisions, and imposing sanctions which are proportionate to the gravity of the offence.

'ammunition' to deal with the inevitable care and protection issues at the root of offending".264

As mentioned above, the CYPF Act provides the Youth Court with a range of 'sentencing' options referred to as Youth Court orders, including lower tariff orders such as admonishment, fines, reparation and restitution. Higher tariff orders are supervision, community work, supervision with activity and supervision with residence. The supervision with residence order is the sole custodial order available to the Youth Court. All of these orders provide for short term interventions aimed at pursuing the dual goal of the Youth Justice principles - making the offender accountable for their offending whilst pursuing their rehabilitation. None of these however, provide for the ability to intervene in the family life of the child.

The Family Court on the other hand when dealing with child offenders has a much wider array of orders and responses it can make. For instance, the Family Court has powers to make custody and guardianship orders, 265 and also counseling orders, in respect of parents, guardians and any person who is made the subject of a restraining order in respect of that child. 266 Service orders to provide services to the child or the person caring for the child, ²⁶⁷ and support orders, which can be ordered to monitor the standard of care been given to the child, can also be made. 268 Such orders, in particular, the presence of a Family Court custody order are often pivotal for a successful outcome for the child offender involved.²⁶⁹ Evidence indicates that the type of support given to caregivers when children become serious offenders is crucial if these children are to reduce their offending.²⁷⁰ Also the care and protection response can continue long after the need for the justice respond has ended.

The majority of these powers are provided to the Family Court through s 83 of the Children Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989.²⁷¹ This paper suggests that the

²⁶⁴ see above n 206

²⁶⁵ Section 101 CYPF Act

²⁶⁶ Section 83 CYPF Act

²⁶⁷ Section 86 CYPF Act

²⁶⁸ Section 91 CYPF Act

²⁶⁹ McLaren, K Youth Offending Teams: What Doesn't Work to Reduce Offending by Young People (Ministry of Justice, 25 January 2005) http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy-and-consultation/youth/eflashes/E-flash%2019.pdf

²⁷⁰ Robertson, D (2009); Fergusson, D. (2009) in Maxwell (2009) op cit.

²⁷¹ S 83 Orders of court on making of declaration

'ammunition' in s 83 should be provided to the Youth Court to enable them to make interventions into the child's familial life where necessary.

Whilst conferring Family Court powers on the Youth Court is likely to blur their jurisdictions, it is contended that this has already been done by bringing child offenders across to the Youth Court. One of the youth justice principles of the Act is that criminal proceedings should not be used solely to address welfare concerns. Section 284(2) of the CYPF Act prevents the Youth Court from making a supervision order, a community work order, a supervision with activity order, or a supervision with residence order, merely because the Court considers that the young person is in need of care and protection. It is arguable however that this necessitates the need for alternative orders that do not consign criminal sanctions on the child offender when the concerns as to the causes of their offending are of a welfare nature. The goal here would not be achieved by applying care and protection solutions to criminogenic issues (or vice versa), but by using the appropriate parts of the Act to address the issues they were designed to address (here care and protection provisions = addressing care and protection issues).

As already stated, crime reduction programmes for child offenders are generally more effective when they involve the family and whanau, particularly where an analysis of the offenders' risks factors indicates that there is a need to improve family communication

⁽¹⁾ Where the court makes a declaration under <u>section 67</u> relating to a child or young person, it may do 1 or more of the following things:

⁽a) discharge the child or young person, or any parent or guardian or other person having the care of the child or young person, or both, from the proceedings without further order:

⁽b) order that the child or young person, or any parent or guardian or other person having the care of the child or young person, or both, come before the court, if called upon within 2 years of the making of the order, so that the court may take further action under this section:

⁽c) order 1 or more of the following persons to receive counselling from such person or persons, and subject to such conditions, as are specified by the court:

the child or young person:

^{- (}ii) any parent or guardian or other person having the care of the child or young person:

 ⁽iii) any person in respect of whose conduct a restraining order or an interim restraining order was sought or made in the proceedings:

⁽d) make a services order under section 86:

⁽e) make a restraining order under section 87:

⁽f) make a support order under section 91:

⁽g) make a custody order under section 101:

⁽h) make an order under section 110 appointing a guardian of the child or young person.

⁽²⁾ Where the court makes an order under subsection (1)(c), sections 74 to 77 shall apply, with all necessary modifications, with respect to that order as if it were a direction made under section 74(1).

Compare: 1974 No 72 s 31(1)(b), (c), (d), (h); 1983 No 129 s 7(1)

²⁷² Section 208(b) CYPF Act 1989

or dynamics. Programmes which provide parenting training have proven to be effective. ²⁷³The recent Amendments provide for the introduction of parenting orders which are clearly aimed at addressing the causes of the child's offending. ²⁷⁴ If criticisms were pointed at transferring the powers of s 83 to the Youth Court due to this blurring the separate jurisdictions, it could be argued that this has already been done by allowing parenting orders to enter the Court's array of options – clearly aimed at the welfare of the offender.

Parenting orders on their own however, are likely to be insufficient to deal with the care and protection issues that are present in the majority of these serious child offenders.²⁷⁵ The powers given in s 83 on the other hand are much more extensive and enable comprehensive intervention into the child's life when necessary.²⁷⁶ Additionally many of the Judges who sit on the Youth Court also have experience in the Family Court and thus are likely to have experience in deciding when such orders are appropriate.

Despite the history of boundary issues between care and protection and youth justice within the CYPF Act, it is submitted that it makes no sense for the Family Court and Youth Court to deal in isolation with the same young person whose offending and care and protection needs are intimately and intricately related.²⁷⁷

Such transfer of legislative power would have to be done by the means of legislative amendment. This could be done by either extending Part two of the CYPF Act which governs the care and protection of young people to include the Youth Court or alternatively by replicating the statutory powers in s 83 to be included in the Part Four of the Act which governs Youth Justice. Gaining powers under s 83 would also require that

-

²⁷³ D Farrington (2003) "Developmental and life-course criminology: Key theoretical and empirical issues" 41 Criminology at 145

see above n 80

²⁷⁵ Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009).

 $^{^{276}}$ Care and protection proceedings in respect of children and young people who are, or who are likely to be harmed, abused or neglected also encompass circumstances when there is serious concern for the wellbeing of a child aged 10-13 years as a result of the number, nature or magnitude of offences alleged to have been committed by that child.

Judge Fitzgerald's Intensive Monitoring Group Court in Auckland City is an excellent example of how a collaborative approach can benefit both the Young person and the various agencies charged with his or her care.

the Youth Court to be given the ability under s 67 of the Act to make grounds for a declaration that child or young person is in need of care or protection.²⁷⁸

4.3 Bringing Scientific Evidence into Sentencing – A qualitatively different approach

Finally, this paper suggests that a qualitatively different approach to the sentencing of child and youth offenders in the adult courts is necessary. Such a sentence would use scientific evidence to tailor the sentence to reflect the developmental immaturity of the young offender in comparison to their adult counterparts.

The general principles relating to sentencing young people in the adult courts are now embodied in the Court of Appeal decision *Pouwhare v R.* ²⁷⁹ *Pouwhare* concluded that:

- Youth Justice principles do not apply to young people sentenced in an adult court;
- Adult court tariff cases do apply when setting starting points for sentencing young people in an adult court; and
- There is no limit to the discount that can be given for age under the Sentencing Act.²⁸⁰

This approach was clearly mandated by the wording of the relevant legislation.²⁸¹ The combined effect of the above principles would probably have made little difference to the end result for most young people sentenced in the adult court irrespective of whether the Court had taken the different approach suggested by the defence to apply the CYPF Act.

Nevertheless, it was perhaps disappointing that the opportunity was not taken by defence counsel to introduce the most recent evidence regarding brain development at

²⁸⁰ For more info see chapter two on sentencing

²⁷⁸ s**67 Grounds for declaration that child or young person is in need of care or protection**A court may, on application, where it is satisfied on any of the grounds specified in section **14(1)** that a child or young person is in need of care or protection, make a declaration that the child or young person is in need of care or protection.

²⁷⁹ *R v Pouwhare* [2010] NZCA 268

The Court held that the Sentencing Act analysis would be rendered incoherent if its purposes, principles, and aggravating and mitigating factors did not effectively displace the youth justice sentencing principles in s208 of the CYPF Act.

the sentencing stage.²⁸² It is submitted that if this evidence had been introduced, a different and principled approach could have possibly been foreshadowed for young people facing charges for serious offending. There was at least an opportunity, even given the current legislation, to consider whether a substantially different approach could be taken for serious youth offenders to treat them as children or young persons rather than junior adults. Such an approach would not necessitate adherence to adult tariff starting points and would give the courts flexibility to dispense with an adult starting point and to tailor the sentence to the developmental level of the young offender.

Recent decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States have used scientific evidence regarding brain development to provide for a qualitatively different approach to sentencing for juveniles due to their unique developmental maturity. In its landmark 2005 decision *Roper v Simmons*, which abolished the juvenile death penalty, the US Supreme Court held that the inherent immaturity of adolescents relatives to adults mitigated teenagers' criminal responsibility to the extent that it barred the imposition of capital punishment for crimes committed under the age of 18, regardless of their heinousness.²⁸³

Although the Supreme Court's decision in *Roper v Simmons*²⁸⁴ did not specifically cite any developmental neuroscience, several of the amicus curiae briefs submitted in the case, including that of the American Psychological Association (2004), drew the justices' attention to that body of research, stating:²⁸⁵

-

²⁸² Chapter three clearly established that young people are not junior adults: developmentally they are markedly more immature.

²⁸³ L Steinberg, above n151, at 583

²⁸⁴ Roper v Simmons 543 US (2005)

²⁸⁵ ibid "Why do adolescents show differences from adults with respect to risk-taking, planning, inhibiting impulses, and generating alternatives? Recent research suggests a biological dimension to adolescent behavioural immaturity: the human brain does not settle into its mature, adult form until after the adolescent years have passed and a person has entered young adulthood... of particular interest with regard to decision making and criminal culpability is the development of the frontal lobes of the brain. The frontal lobes, especially the prefrontal cortex, play a critical role in the executive or "CEO" functions of the brain which are considered the higher functions of the brain... they are involved when an individual plans and implements goal-directed behaviours by selecting, coordinating, and applying the cognitive skills necessary to accomplish the goal.... Neurodevelopment MRI studies indicate this executive are of the brain is one of the last parts of the brain to reach maturity.

"When compared to an adult murdered, a juvenile offender who did not kill or intend to kill has a twice diminished moral culpability. The age of the offender and the nature of the crime each bear on the analysis." (560 US at 18)

Developmental science was also front and centre in another US Supreme Court decision from this year, *Graham v Florida*. ²⁸⁶ The Supreme Court ruled that juveniles who commit crimes in which no on is killed may not be sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. The Court's ruling, which drew extensively on an amicus curiae brief submitted by the American Psychological Association was informed by a recent summary of relevant research on psychological development during adolescence. ²⁸⁷ The US Supreme Court made these comments:

"Developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. (560 US at 17) (amicus curiae 16 -24 & 22 - 27)"

These recent decisions in the US Supreme Court²⁸⁸ reinforce the conviction that brain science evidence is relevant to dealing with children and young people in Court. In an article published in the Journal of Adolescent Research late last year, DeLisi et al described the decision in Roper v Simmons, which ruled that the death penalty could not be applied to young people under the age of 18 (for reasons including their not yet fully developed and mature brain and personality), as "breathtakingly progressive." ²⁸⁹ The New Zealand courts should try and keep up with such progressive precedent.

The Sentencing Act currently allows for age to be brought in as a mitigating factor in the Sentencing Process under s9(2)(a), and it is seen as a factor of considerable importance when determining an appropriate sentence. ²⁹⁰ The Courts have held that "youth alone does not automatically justify leniency,"291 but it is a highly relevant consideration and

²⁸⁶ Graham v Florida 560 US (2010).

²⁸⁷ Are adolescents less mature than Adults? Steinberg pg pg 583

[&]quot;Developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. (560 US at 17) (amicus curiae 16 – 24 & 22 – 27)

²⁸⁸ Roper v Simmons (2005) 543 U.S. 551; Graham v Florida (2010) 560 US.

²⁸⁹ M, DeLisi. and others "Nature and Nurture by Definition Means Both: A Response to Males" (2010) [24] 25(1) Journal of Adolescent Research.

²⁹⁰ *R v Autagavaia* [1985] 1 NZLR 398 (CA)

²⁹¹ R v Accused (CA 265/88); [1989] 1 NZLR 643 (CA) Bisson J, at 655 –

the younger the offender the more significant becomes the relevance of age. ²⁹² It is contended however, that this is still insufficient to take into account the developmental immaturity of many serious child and youth offenders when they enter the adult criminal justice system. With the new Amendment children as young as 12 may enter the adult jurisdiction, albeit it on an extremely limited basis. These children may in actual fact be even more developmentally young due to lower intellectual capabilities, lack of schooling and mental and physical disabilities. The Court of Appeal has said that "what sentence is proper in type and in length is not constrained by any percentage." However, research shows that a reduction of up to 60 or 70 percent has never been countenanced on appeal before in New Zealand courts. Thus whilst such reduction is not precluded, it is unlikely to be given.

One technique for guiding judicial discretion in the search for uniformity of approach to sentencing is the guideline judgement. Such judgments often set starting points or benchmarks by scheduling penalties imposed in previous decisions of the Court. These bands and starting points then guide sentencing in future cases. It is submitted that such guidelines are inappropriate for many youth offenders who are fundamentally different to their adult counterparts in terms of their level of culpability.

Judge Becroft stated in the District Court hearing of that Youth Court Judges on transferring offenders to the Adult Courts have "want[ed] much more flexibility than a tariff approach can allow, especially to take into account, immaturity, what is called 'developmental lag', and to significantly reduce the periods of imprisonment that would otherwise apply."

In the District Court or High Court, under the Sentencing Act, the Judge is obliged to begin with the offence in its objective seriousness and only then look to the offender. ²⁹³ It is contended in the case of a child or youth offender, the focus should be on first ascertaining their level of developmental maturity, the focus being on the developmental age of the offender and their ability to comprehend their criminal actions.

-

²⁹² R v C (CA 332/95, 28 September 1995, Richardson, Thorp and Williamson JJ) [1993-1995] BCLD 2161.

²⁹³ R v Taueki [2005] 3 NZLR 372 (CA)

Thus a new approach could be developed by the Courts overtime. Such an approach would start from the premise that the youth is fundamentally developmentally different and thus not bound by adult starting points and the process set out in *Taueki*. Instead once evidence is submitted by counsel regarding the low developmental level of the defendant it would be left to the judges discretion to depart from established guidelines. The developmental immaturity of the offender would have to be shown to necessitate a departure from the bands suggested thus providing room for individual circumstances of the youth/child offender to be accounted for. Ultimately the courts "have large measure of discretion in determining sentences in individual cases" and thus departure from guideline judgments when their use if seen as inappropriate is possible.

Real challenges would exist for counsel and judges wishing to bring brain science into their Court work with integrity and intelligence. Realistically, it is impossible to fully explore all the interconnecting, environmental, behavioural and developmental factors that contribute to the picture of a young person's culpability. However, treating young offenders in a "qualitatively different way" in order to reflect the UNCROC, rather than as "junior adults" with a greater discount for youth being factored into the sentencing process is, in my view, the more satisfactory approach.

CONCLUSION

This paper has insisted that treatment of child and youth offenders must be based on fundamental principles such as those found in the UNCROC. The setting of the age of criminal responsibility must attempt to accurately reflect research surrounding the limited culpability of the offender whilst ensuring that entrance into the youth justice system occurs when it can provide tangible outcomes.

It is never easy to answer the "hard questions" in relation to youth justice but, at the very least, a principled system should exhibit two key features. Firstly, children should be dealt with in a distinct youth justice system that is qualitatively different to its adult criminal justice counterpart in both treatment and sentencing in order to take into account the inherent immaturity of the young offender. This distinct system should uphold the rights of children by seeking to adhere to the principles found in international instruments. And secondly, youth justice professionals and policy makers should remain cognisant of relevant research into child offending and psychology and tailor their systems and legislation to accommodate the specific needs of children.

Whilst there is a place for a punitive response and the safety of the public must be paramount, the child offender must also be dealt with in a principled manner. Children in conflict with the law stand at a crossroads – they are either tomorrow's law-abiding citizens, or tomorrow's serious offenders. In many cases, which road they take is determined by the youth justice system. The Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act 1989 is a landmark in New Zealand's treatment of young offenders. New Zealand should resist any more moves to set the clock back.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

PRIMARY SOURCES

NEW ZEALAND

LEGISLATION

Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989.

Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Courts Jurisdiction and Orders)
Amendment Act 2010.

Crimes Act 1961.

Sentencing Act 2002.

BILLS

Children Young Persons and Their Families Amendment Bill 2007 (No 6) (183-2)

Land Transport (Road Safety and Other Matters) Amendment Bill 2010 (213-1).

Young Offenders (Serious Crimes) Bill 2006 (28-1)

HANSARD

(18 Feb 2009) 652 NZPD 1440.

(10 Feb 2010) 660 NZPD 8777.

(23 Feb 2010) 660 NZPD 9341.

CASE LAW

Pouwhare v R [2010] NZCA 268.

Pouwhare v R HC Wanganui, CRI 2010-483-11, 16 April 2010.

R v Accused [1989] 1 NZLR 643 (CA).

R v Autagavia [1985] 1 NZLR 398 (CA).

R v C [1991] NZCA 312.

R v C [1995] NZCA 332.

R v Hosay DC Wellington CRI-2009-283-59, 19 November 2009.

R v Slade & Ors [2005] 2 NZLR 526 (CA).

R v Taueki [2005] 3 NZLR 372 (CA).

SELECT COMMITTEE SUBMISSIONS

Adventure Development "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Advisory Group on Conduct Problems "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court

Alcohol Drug Association New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Aotearoa New Zealand Association of Social Workers "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Ashton, Judy "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Barnados New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Champion, Robin "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Children's Commissioner "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Community Alcohol and Drug Services Youth Team "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Community Based Sexual Offender Treatment Sector "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Conder, Juanita "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Evolve - Wellington Youth Services "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Expert Advisory Group Conduct Problems of the Ministries of Social Development,
Health and Education "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children,
Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment
Bill".

Families Commission "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Families, Children and Addictions Trust (Kina Trust) "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Family Planning "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Foundation for Youth Development "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Gow, Linda Clinical Psychologist, Regional Youth Forensic Service "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Henwood Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Human Rights Commission "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Kauri Centre "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Legal Advisory Committee "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Ludbrook, Robert "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Mahia Mai a Whai Tara Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Maxwell, Gabrielle, Senior Associate, Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University of Wellington "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Mental Health Commission "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

National Committee for Addiction Treatment "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

National Council of Women of New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Aotearoa Adolescent Health and Development "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Council of Christian Social Services "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Drug Foundation "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Federation of Business and Professional Women "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Law Society "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Nurses Association "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Police Association "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Psychological Society "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

New Zealand Young Labour "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Premier Youth Training Limited "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Rethinking Crime and Punishment "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Southland Youth Offending Team "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Tarawhiti Community Law Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Te Ora Hau Aotearoa Inc "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

The Collaborative for Research and Training in Youth Health and Development Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

The Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

The Youth Court of New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

UNICEF New Zealand "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Vineyard Community Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders)

Amendment Bill".

Women's International League for Peace and Freedom "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Youth Horizons Trust "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Youth Justice Independent Advisory Group "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

Youth Law Tino Rangatiratanga Taitamariki "Submission to Social Services Select Committee on the Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill".

GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS

Louwrens, Matthew *Children Young Persons and Their Families* (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill: Summary of Submissions for 13 May 2009 (Office of the Clerk of the House of Representatives, 11 May 2009).

Louwrens, Matthew *Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill: Summary of Submissions for 4 May 2009* (Office of the Clerk of the House of Representatives, 4 May 2009).

Louwrens, Matthew *Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill: Summary of Submissions for 27 May 2009* (Office of the Clerk of the House of Representatives, 25 May 2009).

Ministry of Justice *Child and Youth Offending Statistics in New Zealand: 1992 - 2008* (Ministry of Justice, April 2010).

Ministry of Social Development "Fresh Start Package for Young Offenders" (press release, 26 August 2009).

Ministry of Social Development *A Fresh Start for Young Offenders: Regulatory Impact Statement* (Executive Summary, 2009).

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Fourth Response to Questions from the Social Services Committee* (June 2009).

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons and Their Families* (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Response to Questions from the Social Services Committee (May 2009).

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Initial Briefing to the Social Services Committee* (April 2009)

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Developmental Report.* (October 2009).

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Departmental Report* (October 2009)

Ministry of Social Development *Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Bill - Departmental Report* (October 2009)

Ministry of Youth Development *United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child Five-Year Work Programme 2004 to 2008* (September 2004).

SPEECHES AND CONFERENCE PAPERS

Bennett, Hon Paula, Minister of Social Development and Employment (http://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/fresh+start+young+offenders) A Fresh Start for Young Offenders" (16 February 2009).

Judge McElrea "New Zealand Youth Court: A Model for Development in other Courts?" (National Conference of District Court Judges, Rotorua, New Zealand, April)

Key, John: State of the Nation Speech, 29 January 2008 http://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c id=1&objectid=10489424

Maxwell, Dr Gabrielle "Changing Crime Rates 1998 - 2007" (IPS Forum Addressing the causes of offending, Wellington, February 2009).

Power, Honourable Simon "Drivers of Crime Ministerial Meeting Opening Address" (Wellington, 03 April 2009).

Power, Honourable Simon "Drivers of Crime Ministerial Meeting Opening Address" (Wellington, 03 April 2009).

Power, Simon "Drivers of Crime Ministerial Meeting Opening Address" (Wellington, 03 April 2009).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft "2010, a big year for the Youth Court - Turning 21 and getting the most out of the Act" (Triennial Youth Court Judges Conference, Waipuna Lodge, Auckland, 8 - 10 September 2010).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft "Drug Law and the New Zealand Youth Court" (International Drug Symposium: Healthy Drug Law, Te Papa Tongarewa, Wellington New Zealand, 19 February 2009).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft "Youth Justice Family Group Conferences: A Quick 'Nip and Tuck' or Transplant Surgery – What would the Doctor order in 2006" (paper presented at the International Conference on the Family Group Conference - Coming Home, Te Hokinga Mai, Wellington, New Zealand 27-29 November 2006).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft Principal "Children and Young People in Conflict with the Law: Asking the Hard Questions" (XVII World Congress of the International Association of Youth and Family Judges and Magistrates, Belfast, Ireland, 31 August 2006).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft "Alternative Approaches to Sentencing" (CMJA Triennial Conference, Toronto, Canada, 12 September 2006).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft "What causes youth crime, and what can we do about it?" (NZ Bluelight Ventures Inc, Conference and AGM, Queenstown, New Zealand, 1 May 2009).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft, 'Youth Justice – The New Zealand Experience Past Lessons and Future Challenges'. Paper presented at Australian Institute of Criminology/ NSW Department of Juvenile Justice Conference: *Juvenile Justice: From Lessons of the Past to a Road for the Future*, Sydney, 1-2 December 2003, 10.

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft, Principal Youth Court Judge "Youth Justice in New Zealand: Future Challenges" (paper presented at the New Zealand Youth Justice Conference, New Zealand Youth Justice Conference: "Never Too Early, Never Too Late" Wellington, 17—19 May 2004).

Principal Youth Court Judge Andrew Becroft, Sending out an SOS – Youth Justice needs the Community, , Working Together Conference, November 2007.

Principal Youth Court Judge of New Zealand, Andrew Becroft, "How To Turn A Child Offender Into An Adult Criminal - In 10 Easy Steps" (Children and the Law International Conference, Prato, Tuscany, Italy, 7 September 2009).

Rowe, Associate Professor Michael "Policing and 'cracking down on crime': tough questions and tough answers" (IPS Forum Addressing the Causes of Offending, Wellington, New Zealand, February 2009).

OTHER

Becroft, A "Court in the Act" Youth Court Newsletter (December 2007)

Casey, Victoria Advice to the Attorney-General on the Consistency with the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990 of the Children Young Persons & Their Families (Youth Courts Jurisdiction & Orders) Amendment Bill (Crown Law, 5 February 2009)

http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy-and-consultation/legislation/bill-of-rights/children-young-persons-their-families-youth-courts-jurisdiction-orders-amendment-bill/?searchterm=Children%20Young%20Persons%20and%20Their%20Families%20%28Y outh%20Court%20Jurisdiction%20and%20Orders%29%20Amendment%20Act

McLaren, K Youth Offending Teams: What Doesn't Work to Reduce Offending by Young People (E- flash 19, Ministry of Justice, 25 January 2005)

http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy-and-consultation/youth/e-flashes/E-flash%2019.pdf

OVERSEAS

LEGISLATION

Children's Act 2001 (Ireland).

Youth Criminal Justice Act 2002 (Canada).

Young Offenders Act 1997 (New South Wales).

Young Offenders Act 1993 (South Australia).

CASE LAW

United Kingdom

C v DPP [1995] All ER 43 (HL)

SC v United Kingdom (2005) 40 EHRR 10

United States

Graham v Florida 560 US (2010)

Roper v Simmons 543 US (2005)

SECONDARY

REPORTS

Barry, Monica *Effective Approaches to Risk Assessment in Social Work: An International Literature Review* (ISBN: 0-7559-65541, Scottish Executive Social Research, 2007).

Burman, Michele; Armstrong, Sarah; Batchelor, Susan; McNeill, Fergus and Nicholson, Jan Research and Practice in Risk Assessment & Risk Management of Children and Young People Engaging in Offending Behaviours: A Literature Review (The Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice Research, Risk Management Authority Research, 2008).

Dodge, Kenneth A; Disgion, Thomas J and Landsford, Jennifer E *Deviant Peer Influences in Intervention and Public Policy for Youth* (Social Policy Report, A Publication of the Society for Research in Child Development, 2006).

Doolan, Mike *Youth Justice: Legislation and Practice* in Borwn, B J and McElrea F W M (Eds.) *Youth Court in New Zealand: A Model of Justice* (Report no 34, Legal Research Foundation, Wellington, 1993) 15.

Griffin, Patrick Different from Adults: An Updated Analysis of Juvenile Transfer and Blended Sentencing Law with Recommendations for Reform (National Centre for Juvenile Justice, 2008).

Hazel, Dr Neal Cross *National Comparison of Youth Justice* (Youth Justice Board, United Kingdom, 2008).

Kooy, Elizabeth *Challenging Course: A Review of the First Two Years of Drug Transfer Reform in Illinois* (Illinois Juvenile Justice Initiative, 2008).

Maxwell, Gabrielle; Kingi, Venezia; Robertson, Jeremy; Morris, Allison; Cunningham, Chirs *Achieving Effective Outcomes in Youth Justice* Final Report (ISBN: 0-478-25142-4, Ministry of Social Development, 2004).

Maxwell, Gabrielle M and Morris, Allison *Understanding Reoffending: Full Report* (Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, 1999).

Maxwell, Gabrielle M and Robertson, Jeremy *Child Offenders: A Report to the Ministers of Justice, Police and Social Welfare* (Wellington, Office of the Commissioner for Children, 1995).

Warren, Julia and Fraser, Lydia *Te Hurihanga Pilot: Evaluation Report* (ISBN: 0-478-25142-4, Prepared for the Ministry of Justice, 2009).

Watt, Emily A History of Youth Justice in New Zealand (Department of Courts, Research Paper, 2003).

Young People Convicted in Relation to the Death of Michael Choy, (Ministry of Justice, 2003) http://www.justice.govt.nz/publications/publications-archived/2003/ youth-justice-and-social-sector-service-delivery-to-the-children-and-young-people-convicted-in-relation-to-the-death-of-michael-choy-february-2003/report>.

BOOKS

Akester, Kate Justice Restoring Youth Justice: New Directions in Domestic and International Law and Practice (Justice, London, 2000).

Arthur, Raymond Young Offenders and the Law (Taylor & Francis, Hoboken, 2010).

Baker, Kerry *Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements and Youth Justice* (The Policy Press, Bristol, 2009).

Bala, Nicholas C *Juvenile Justice Systems: An International Comparison of Problems and Solutions* (Thompson Educational Publishing, Toronto, 2002)

Bellamy, Paul Young People and Gangs in New Zealand (Parliamentary Library,

Burrows, F Statute Law in New Zealand (3rd ed, Lexis Nexis, Wellington, 2003).

Crawford, Adam and Newburn ,Tim *Youth Offending and Restorative Justice: Implementing Reform in Youth Justice* (Willan, Portland, 2003).

Cunneen ,Chris and RD White *Juvenile justice: Youth and Crime in Australia* (2nd ed, Oxford University Press, Melbourne, 2002).

Fortin, Jane *Children's Rights and the Developing Law* (3rd ed, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009).

Franklin, Bob *The New Handbook of Children's Rights: Comparative Policy and Practice* (2nd ed, Routledge, London, 2001).

Hendrick, Harry "Histories of Youth Crime and Justice" in Barry Goldson and John Munice (eds) *Youth Crime and Justice* (Sage Publications, London, 2006).

Hibbert, Monaghan and others *Children in Trouble: Time for Change* (Barnados, Essex, United Kingdom, 2003).

Lerner, Richard M and Laurence D Steinberg *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology* (3rd ed, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, 2009).

Maxwell, Gabrielle M and Allison Morris *Family, Victims, and Culture: Youth Justice in New Zealand* (Social Policy Agency and Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, 1993).

Maxwell, Gabrielle M and Allison Morris Rethinking Youth Justice: For Better or Worse: A Comment on Proposals by New Zealand Children and Young Persons Service to Amalgamate Youth Justice and Care and Protection Services (Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, 1994).

Maxwell, Gabrielle M *Addressing the Causes of Offending: What is the Evidence?* (Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University, Wellington, 2009).

McElrea (edss), *The Youth Court in New Zealand: A New Model of Justice* (Auckland: Legal Research Foundation, 1993) 33.

Morris, Allison and Gabriell M Maxwell *Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Conferencing, Mediation and Circles* (Hart Publishing, Oxford, 2001).

Morris, Allison and Gabrielle M Maxwell *Family Group Conferences and Convictions* (Institute of Criminology, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, 1997).

Muncie, John and Gordon Hughes and Eugene McLoughlin *Youth Justice: Critical Readings* (Sage, London, 2002).

Muncie, John Youth and Crime (3rd ed, London, Sage Publications, 2009).

Nee, C "The Offender's Perspective On Crime: Methods and Principles in Data Collection" in A Needs and G Towl (eds) *Applying Psychology to Forensic Practice*. (BPS Blackwell, London, 2004). Seymour, John A *Dealing with Offenders in New Zealand: The System in Evolution* (Legal Research Foundation, Auckland, 1976).

Scott, E., & L. Steinberg. 2008. Rethinking Juvenile Justice. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Tolmie, J and W Brookbanks *Criminal Justice in New Zealand* (Lexis Nexis, New Zealand, 2007).

Wundersitz, Joy and Christine Alder *Family Conferencing and Juvenile Justice: The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism?* (Australian Institute of Criminology, Canberra, 1994).

Zimring, F American Youth Violence (Oxford University Press, New York, 1998).

JOURNALS

Barber BL, Eccles JS and Stone MR "Whatever happened to the jock, the brain and the princess? Young adult pathways linked to adolescent activity involvment and social identity" (2001) 16 Journal of Adolescent Research

Bishop, DM "Juvenile offenders in the adult criminal justice system" (2000) 27 Crime and Justice 81.

Delis, M and others "Nature and Nurture by Definition Means Both: A Response to Males" (2010) 25 Journal of Adolescent Research 1.

Farrington, D "Developmental and life-course criminology: Key theoretical and empirical issues" (2003) 41 Criminology 221.

Ficher, K, Z Stein and K Heikknen "Narrow Assessments Misrepresent Development and Misguide Policy: Comment on Steinberg, Cauffman, Woolard, Graham, and Banich" (2009) The American Psychologist [595].

Fried, Carrie S and Dickon N Reppucci "Criminal Decision Making: The Development of Adolescent Judgment, Criminal Responsibility, and Culpability" (2001) 25 Law and Human Behavior 1.

Giedd, JN and others "Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study" (1999) 2 Nature Neuroscience 10 at 861.

Goldson,B "Counterblast: Difficult to Understand or Defend: A Reasoned Case for Raising the Age of Criminal Responsibility" (2009) 48 The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice 514.

Gunnar, Jon, Bernberg and Krohn D Marvin "Labeling, Life Chances, and Adult Crime: The Direct and Indirect Effects of Official Intervention in Adolescence on Crime in Early Adulthood" (2003) Criminology 1287

Jehle, J, C Lewis and P Sobota "Dealing with Juvenile Offenders in the Criminal Justice System" (2008) 14 European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research 237.

Johnson, L M, L Simons and R D Conger "Criminal Justice Systems Involvement and Continuity of Youth Crime: A Longtitudal Analysis" (2004) 36 Youth and Society 3.

Johnson, LM and others "Criminal justice system involvement and continuity of youth crime: A longitudinal analysis" (2004) Youth & Society

Kubiak, Chris and Richard Hester "Just deserts? Developing practice in youth justice" (2008) 8 Learning in Health and Social Care 1

Maxwell, Gabrielle and Allison Morris "Youth Justice in New Zealand: Restorative Justice in Practice?" (2006) 62 The Journal of Social Issues.

McCulloch, P and F McNeill "Consumer Society, Commodification and Offender Management" (2007) Criminology and Criminal Justice 223.

Modecki K "Addressing Gaps in the Maturity of Judgment Literature: Age Differences and Delinquency" (2008) 32 Law and Human Behavior 1.

Modecki, Kathryn Lynn ""It's a Rush": Psychosocial Content of Antisocial Decision Making" (2009) 33 Law and Human Behavior 3.

Moffit TE "Adolescence-Limited and Life-Course Persistent Antisocial Behaviour: A Developmental Taxonomy" (1993) 100 Psychological Review 4 674.

Moffit, Terrie E "Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: A developmental taxonomy" (1993) 100(4) Psychological Review 674.

Morris Allison and Maxwell, Gabrielle "Juvenile Justice in New Zealand: A New Paradigm" (1993) 26 Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology 81.

Piquero A and Steinberg L "Public preferences for rehabilitation versus incarceration of juvenile offenders" (2010) 38 Journal of Criminal Justice.

Slobogin, Christopher and Mark R Fondacaro "Juvenile Justice: The Fourth Option" (2009) 95 Iowa Law Review.

Smith, David "New Labour and Youth Justice" (2003) 17 Children & Society 226.

Steinberg, L "Risk Taking in Adolescence: New Perspectives From Brain and Behavioral Science" (2007) 16 Current Directions in Psychological Science 55.

Steinberg, L and E Scott "Should Juvenile Offenders Ever Be Sentenced to Life without the Possibility of Parole?" (2010) 53 Human Development 2.

Steinberg, L and others "Are Adolescents Less Mature Than Adults? Minors' Access to Abortion, the Juvenile Death Penalty, and the Alleged APA "Flip-Flop"" (2009) 64 The American Psychologist 583.

Steinberg, L and others "Reconciling the Complexity of Human Development with the Reality of Legal Policy: Reply to Fischer, Stein, and Heikkinen" (2009) 64 The American Psychologist 601.

Steinberg, L and A Piquero "Manipulating Public Opinion About Trying Juveniles as Adults: An Experimental Study" (2010) Crime and Delinquency 487.

Steinberg, L "Should the Science of Adolescent Brain Development Inform Public Policy?" (2009) The American Psychologist 739.

PHD

Lynch, Nessa "The Rights of the Young Person in the New Zealand Youth Justice Family Group Conference" (PHD Thesis, University of Otago, 2008).

INTERNET MATERIALS

Ministry of Justice "Child Offending and Youth Justice Processes" (2010) http://www.justice.govt.nz/policy-and-consultation/youth/child-offending-and-youth-justice-processes.

Ministry of Justice "Family Group Conference" (2010) http://www2.justive.govt.nz /youth/about-youth/family-group-conference.asp>.

New Zealand National Party, Justice Policy (2010) < http://www.national.org.nz /PolicyAreas.aspx?S=43>.

NEWS ARTICLES

Easton, Mark "Crime, Lies and Statistics" *BBC* (United Kingdom, 17 July 2008) at http://www.bbc.co.uk/blogs/thereporters/markeaston/2008/07/crimes_lies_and_statistics.html.

"Youngest killer's bid to be free" (New Zealand, 29 August 2010) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/national/crime/4072333/Youngest-killers-bid-to-be-free

"Patches Identify Thuggish Losers" *The Dominion Post* (Wellington, New Zealand, 30 September 2008) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/opinion/editorials/652584>.

"Coached Teenage Rapist to be Freed" *The Dominion Post* (Wellington, New Zealand, 23 April 2009) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/national/crime/2356195/Coached-teenage-rapist-to-be-freed.

"Fair Takes Fire From Drunk Yobs" *Manawatu Standard* (New Zealand, 22 December 2008) at http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/national/771806.

"A Past and Future: Therapeutic Justice for Youth Offenders" *The New Zealand Herald* (Auckland, New Zealand, 5 September, 2009) at www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/news/article.cfm?c_id=1&objectid=10595243.

INTERNATIONAL DOCUMENTS

Human Rights Commission Comments of the New Zealand Human Rights Commission on New Zealand's implementation of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, Report, For consideration in relation to New Zealand's Third and Fourth Periodic (September, 2004).

United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (opened for signature 20 November 1989, adopted 20 November 1989, entered into force 2 September 1990).

United Nations Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading
Treatment or Punishment (1984)

United Nations Guidelines for the Prevention of Juvenile Delinquency ("The Riyadh Guidelines") GA Res 45/112, UN Doc A/45/49 (1990).

United Nations Rules for the Protection of Juveniles Deprived of their Liberty, GA Res 45/113, UN Doc A/45/49, annex, 45 UN GAOR Supp. (No.49A (1990)

United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Administration of Juvenile Justice, GA Res 40/33, UN Doc A/40/53, Annex, 40 U.N. GAOR Supp.No.53 (1985) at 207.

OTHER

Boshier, Peter (ed) *Child Offenders Manual – A Practical Guide to Successful Intervention* with *Child Offenders* (3rd ed, Chief Judges Chambers, Wellington, 2002).

Braithwaite, John "What is to be done about Criminal Justice" in BJ Brown and FWM McElrea *The Youth Court in New Zealand: A New Model of Justice* (Legal Research Foundation, Auckland, 1993)

Buist, Maureen and White, Bill *International Evidence about decision making and* services for children and young people involved in offending (Criminal Justice Social Work Development Center for Scotland, 2004).

Lambourn, Barbara (ed) *Young and Accountable? Should NZ lower the age of criminal prosecution?* (Summary Position Paper, UNICEF NZ, October 2008).

McElrea, FWM "A New Model of Justice" in BJ Brown and FWM McElrea *The Youth Court* in New Zealand: A New Model of Justice (Legal Research Foundation, Auckland, 1993)

Scott, E and Steinberg, L *Social Welfare and Fairness in Juvenile Crime Regulation* (Columbia Public Law Research Paper No. 10-243, August 2010)

Wauchop, Susan *Ten Going on Sixteen: A profile of young New Zealanders in the transition years* (Ministry of Youth Development, 2010).

Appendix A: The Children, Young Persons and Their Families (Youth Court Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010

S6 Welfare and interests of child or young person paramount

In all matters relating to the administration or application of this Act (other than Parts 4 and 5 and sections 351 to 360), the welfare and interests of the child or young person shall be the first and paramount consideration, having regard to the principles set out in sections 5 and 13.

Section 6: substituted, on 8 January 1995, by <u>section 3</u> of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Amendment Act 1994 (1994 No 121).

s29 Family group conference may make decisions and recommendations and formulate plans

- (1) A family group conference convened under this Part may make such decisions and recommendations and formulate such plans as it considers necessary or desirable in relation to the care or protection of the child or young person in respect of whom the conference was convened.
- (2) In making such decisions and recommendations and formulating such plans, the conference shall have regard to the principles set out in <u>sections</u> 5, 6, and 13.
- (3) Every care and protection co-ordinator who convenes a family group conference shall cause to be made a written record of the details of the decisions and recommendations made, and the plans formulated, by that conference pursuant to this section.

s30 Care and protection co-ordinator to seek agreement to decisions, recommendations, and plans of family group conference

- (1) Where a family group conference makes any decision or recommendation, or formulates any plan, pursuant to <u>section 29(1)</u> or subsection (4) of this section, the care and protection co-ordinator who convened that conference shall,—
 - (a) where the conference was convened under <u>section 18(1)</u> on the basis of a report from a social worker or a constable,—
 - (i) communicate that decision, recommendation, or plan to that social worker or constable (or any person acting for that

social worker or that constable), and to every person who will be directly involved in the implementation of the decision, recommendation, or plan; and

- (ii) seek the agreement of that social worker or constable (or any person acting for that social worker or that constable), and of every other person to whom that decision, recommendation, or plan is communicated pursuant to subparagraph (i), to that decision, recommendation, or plan:
- (b) where the conference was convened under <u>section 19(2)(a)</u> on the basis of a referral from any body, organisation, or court,—
 - (i) communicate that decision, recommendation, or plan to that body, organisation, or court, and to every person who will be directly involved in the implementation of that decision, recommendation, or plan; and
 - (ii) seek the agreement of that organisation or body, and of every other person (other than a court) to whom that decision, recommendation, or plan is communicated pursuant to subparagraph (i), to that decision, recommendation, or plan.
- (2) Where, pursuant to paragraph (a)(i) or paragraph (b)(i) of subsection (1), a care and protection co-ordinator meets with any person, body, organisation, or court for the purpose of communicating to that person, body, organisation, or court any decision, recommendation, or plan made or formulated by a family group conference, the care and protection co-ordinator may be accompanied by a person nominated by that family group conference.
- (3) Where a care and protection co-ordinator is unable to secure agreement, under subsection (1), to a decision, recommendation, or plan made or formulated by a family group conference, the care and protection co-ordinator may, for the purpose of enabling that conference to reconsider that decision, recommendation, or plan, reconvene that conference.
- (4) Any family group conference reconvened under subsection (3) may confirm, rescind, or modify its previous decision, recommendation, or plan, or rescind its previous decision, recommendation, or plan and make or formulate a new decision, recommendation, or plan.
- (5) Any decision, recommendation, or plan confirmed or modified under subsection (4), and any new decision, recommendation, or plan made or formulated under that subsection, shall be deemed to have been made or formulated pursuant to section 29. Section 30(1)(a): amended, on 1 October 2008, pursuant to section 116(a)(ii) of the Policing Act 2008 (2008 No 72).

Section 30(1)(a)(i): amended, on 1 October 2008, pursuant to section 116(a)(ii) of the Policing Act 2008 (2008 No 72).

Section 30(1)(a)(ii): amended, on 1 October 2008, pursuant to section 116(a)(ii) of the Policing Act 2008 (2008 No 72).

s36 Family group conference may reconvene to review its decisions, recommendations, and plans

- (1) Where any decision, recommendation, or plan is made or formulated by a family group conference pursuant to this Part, the care and protection coordinator who convened that conference may from time to time, at that co-ordinator's own motion or at the request of at least 2 members of that conference, reconvene that conference for the purpose of reviewing that decision, recommendation, or plan.
- (2) <u>Sections 20 to 35</u> shall apply, with all necessary modifications, with respect to every family group conference reconvened under this section.

s311 Supervision with residence order

- (1) If a charge against a young person is proved before a Youth Court, the court may make an order placing the young person in the custody of the chief executive for a period of not less than 3 months and not more than 6 months.
 - (2) If a Youth Court makes an order under subsection (1) in respect of a young person, the order may (subject to section 290A) be made subject to the condition that the young person undertake any specified programme or activity.
 - (2A) If a Youth Court makes an order under subsection (1) in respect of a young person, the court must—
 - (a) adjourn the proceedings to a date before two-thirds of the period of the order under subsection (1) will have elapsed and on which it will consider early release; and
 - (b) make an order under <u>section 283(k)</u> placing that young person under the supervision of the chief executive for a period of not less than 6 months and not more than 12 months.
 - (3) The order required by subsection (2A)(b) must be made either at the same time as the order made under subsection (1) or after that time but before the earlier of the following:
 - o (a) the expiry of the order made under subsection (1):
 - (b) the date on which the young person is released from the custody of the chief executive under section 314.
 - (4) The order required by subsection (2A)(b) must come into force on the earlier of the expiry specified in subsection (3)(a) and the date specified in subsection (3)(b), and may be made subject to all or any of the following

conditions (which, if imposed by the court, apply in addition to the conditions required by <u>section 305</u> and to any conditions the court imposes under section 306):

- (a) that the young person attend and remain at, for any weekday, evening, and weekend hours each week and for any number of months the court thinks fit, any specified centre approved by the department, and take part in any activity required by the person in charge of the centre:
- (b) that the young person undertake any specified programme or activity:
- o (c) that the young person reside at an address specified by the court. Section 311: substituted, on 1 October 2010, by section 36 of the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families (Youth Courts Jurisdiction and Orders) Amendment Act 2010 (2010 No 2).